This document is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, of which details are available at <https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/>.

This is the accepted manuscript version of a published journal article. An embargo of 24 months applies to this accepted manuscript version. Details of the published journal article are below.

Full legal name of author: Henry Robert Thackeray
Name of author as it appears on the article: Henry (Maya) Robert Thackeray
Title: A BSD formula for high-weight modular forms
Journal: Journal of Number Theory
Volume: 234 (May 2022)
Pages: 404-447
Year of publication: 2022
DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnt.2021.06.028

A BSD formula for high-weight modular forms

Henry (Maya) Robert Thackeray^{1,*}

Mathematics Department, Fine Hall, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544

Abstract

The Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture – which is one of the seven milliondollar Clay Mathematics Institute Millennium Prize Problems – and its generalizations are a significant focus of number theory research.

A 2017 article of Jetchev, Skinner and Wan proved a Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer formula at a prime p for certain rational elliptic curves of rank 1. We generalize and adapt that article's arguments to prove an analogous formula for certain modular forms. For newforms f of even weight higher than 2 with Galois representation V containing a Galois-stable lattice T, let W = V/T and let K be an imaginary quadratic field in which the prime p splits. Our main result is that under some conditions, the p-index of the size of the Shafarevich-Tate group of W with respect to the Galois group of K is twice the p-index of a logarithm of the Abel-Jacobi map of a Heegner cycle defined by Bertolini, Darmon and Prasanna.

Significant original adaptations we make to the 2017 arguments are (1) a generalized version of a previous calculation of the size of the cokernel of a localization-modulo-torsion map, and (2) a comparison of different Heegner cycles.

Keywords: Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer, Heegner cycle, modular form, number theory, Shafarevich-Tate

MSC2020 classification codes: 11G40, 11F23, 11F80, 11F85, 11R23 Declarations of interest: none

Contents

1	Introduction, main result and outline of proof	2
2	Notation and setup	4

^{*}Corresponding author *Email address:* maya.thackeray@up.ac.za, mayart314@outlook.com (Henry (Maya) Robert Thackeray)

¹Present address: Department of Mathematics and Applied Mathematics, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, 0002 South Africa

3	Class field theory	6	
4	Modular forms	8	
5	Algebraic geometry and cohomology	10	
6	L-functions	19	
7	From Wan's L-function to cohomology: Iwasawa theory	23	
8	From cohomology to III	27	
9	From III to Heegner cycles: an Euler system result	30	
10	Comparing Heegner cycles: Abel-Jacobi maps	30	
11	Final argument	37	
A	Acknowledgements		
Re	References		

1. Introduction, main result and outline of proof

A major theme in modern number-theoretic research is that analytic objects (like *L*-functions) yield information about algebraic or geometric objects (like Galois characters and groups of rational points on elliptic curves). A famous example of a result expected to be true is the Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer (BSD) conjecture:

Conjecture 1.1 (BSD). Suppose an elliptic curve E/\mathbb{Q} is given. Let the analytic rank of E be the order of the zero of L(E, s) at s = 1. Then the analytic rank of E equals the (algebraic) rank of the finitely generated abelian group $E(\mathbb{Q})$, and

$$\frac{1}{R(E/\mathbb{Q})\Omega_E} \cdot \lim_{s \to 1} \frac{L(E,s)}{(s-1)^{\operatorname{rank} E(\mathbb{Q})}} = \frac{\#\operatorname{III}(E/\mathbb{Q}) \cdot \prod_{\ell \nmid \infty} c_{\ell}}{(\#E(\mathbb{Q})_{\operatorname{tor}})^2}$$

where the regulator $R(E/\mathbb{Q})$ is defined as in [33] except that the height pairing in that source is to be doubled, and where the period Ω_E , Shafarevich-Tate group $\operatorname{III}(E/\mathbb{Q})$ and Tamagawa numbers c_ℓ are defined as in [33].

So far, the main progress on BSD has been for analytic and algebraic rank 0 and rank 1 cases.

In the recent paper [15] of Jetchev, Skinner and Wan, the following "BSD formula at a prime p" was proved. We write $\operatorname{ind}_p x$ for the p-index of x; for example, $\operatorname{ind}_p(p^n) = n$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Theorem 1.2. [15, Theorem 1.2.1] Assume that

(i) the elliptic curve E/\mathbb{Q} is semistable,

(ii) the rational prime p is odd and does not divide the conductor of E,

- (iii) the Galois representation E[p] of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ over \mathbb{F}_p is irreducible,
- (iv) E has analytic rank 1, and
- (v) if E has supersingular reduction at p, then $a_p(E) = 0$.

Then

$$\operatorname{ind}_p\left(\frac{L'(E,1)}{R(E/\mathbb{Q})\Omega_E}\right) = \operatorname{ind}_p\left(\#\operatorname{III}(E/\mathbb{Q})\cdot\prod_{\ell}c_\ell\right).$$

The proof's broad structure was as follows. For suitable auxiliary imaginary quadratic fields K', K'', the following results were obtained.

(a) A theorem obtained from Brooks, linked to work of Bertolini, Darmon and Prasanna [15, Proposition 5.1.7]: For a certain Heegner point $z_{K'} \in E(K')$, a certain differential form ω_E on E, and a certain L-function L_{BDP} of Bertolini, Darmon and Prasanna, we have

$$2ind_p \log_{\omega_E}(z_{K'}) + 2ind_p((1 - a_p(E) + p)/p) = ind_p L_{BDP}(1).$$

- (b) Interpolating and comparing L-functions [15, Corollary 5.3.2]: For a certain L-function L_{Wan} of Wan, we have $\operatorname{ind}_p L_{BDP}(1) = \operatorname{ind}_p L_{Wan}(1)$.
- (c) Iwasawa theory [15, Proposition 6.2.1], relying on a result of Wan that is half of an Iwasawa main conjecture: For a certain cohomology-related quantity $C(E[p^{\infty}])$, we have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p L_{Wan}(1) \le \operatorname{ind}_p(C(E[p^{\infty}]) \# H^1_{ac}(K', E[p^{\infty}])).$$

- (d) Galois cohomology [15, (3.5d)]: We have
 - $$\begin{split} &\operatorname{ind}_p(C(E[p^{\infty}]) \# H^1_{ac}(K', E[p^{\infty}])) \\ &= \operatorname{ind}_p(\# \operatorname{III}(E/K')) + 2\operatorname{ind}_p \log_{\omega_E}(z_{K'}) + 2\operatorname{ind}_p((1 a_p(E) + p)/p) \\ &- 2\operatorname{ind}_p(E(K') : \mathbb{Z} z_{K'}) + (p\operatorname{-indices} \text{ of Tamagawa factors}). \end{split}$$

Points (a) to (d) yield

 $2ind_p(E(K'): \mathbb{Z}z_{K'}) - (p-indices of Tamagawa factors) \leq ind_p(\#III(E/K')[p^{\infty}]).$

(e) Euler systems [15, Theorem 4.4.1], relying on a result of Nekovář: We have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(\#\operatorname{III}(E/K'')[p^{\infty}]) \le 2\operatorname{ind}_p(E(K''): \mathbb{Z}z_{K''})$$

Applying Gross-Zagier formulas for the Heegner points $z_{K'}$, $z_{K''}$, re-writing the Shafarevich-Tate groups $\operatorname{III}(E/K')$, $\operatorname{III}(E/K'')$ in terms of $\operatorname{III}(E/\mathbb{Q})$ and III of quadratic twists of E, and applying a previously known rank 0 case of the BSD conjecture produced Theorem 1.2.

This article replaces E with a modular form f of weight larger than 2, adapting [15]'s arguments. Analogously to the intermediate results of Jetchev, Skinner and Wan mentioned above, our main result (Theorem 11.1) says that the p-index of a certain Shafarevich-Tate group is twice the p-index of the logarithm of the Abel-Jacobi map of a Heegner cycle.

First, section 2 sets some notation and underlying assumptions. Sections 3 to 5 then review some background on class field theory, modular forms, algebraic geometry and cohomology. Finally, sections 6 to 11 prove Theorem 11.1. The basic structure of our argument is as follows; note the similarity with [15].

- (a) First, a formula of Bertolini, Darmon and Prasanna [1] links the logarithm of the Abel-Jacobi map of a Heegner cycle to a *p*-adic *L*-function.
- (b) Second, *p*-adic *L*-functions are interpolated and compared.
- (c) Third, half of an Iwasawa main conjecture links a *p*-adic *L*-function to Galois cohomology.
- (d) Fourth, Galois cohomology is linked to the Shafarevich-Tate group of f.
- (e) Fifth, an Euler-system-related result links Sha to the Abel-Jacobi image of a Heegner cycle of Masoero.
- (f) Sixth, Masoero's Heegner cycle is compared with the Heegner cycle from the first step.

Combining these six steps, we get a chain of inequalities $x_1 \leq x_2 \leq \cdots \leq x_6 \leq x_1$, so all x_i are equal, and this yields the final result.

2. Notation and setup

2.1. Notation

For $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, S_n is the symmetric group of bijections from $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ to itself. Let G_{tor} be the torsion subgroup of an abelian group G; write $G/\text{tor} := G/G_{\text{tor}}$. Let M_{div} be the maximal *p*-divisible subgroup of a \mathbb{Z}_p -module M.

For a rational prime p, let $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ be the completion of the algebraic closure $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ of \mathbb{Q}_p . Write $\operatorname{ind}_p : \widehat{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ for the multiplicative p-adic valuation with $\operatorname{ind}_p(p^n) = n$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. For a finite-degree field extension L/\mathbb{Q}_p , let O_L be the ring of integers of L, with maximal ideal m_L , and let \widehat{O}_L^{ur} be the ring of integers of the completion $\widehat{L^{ur}}$ of the maximal unramified extension L^{ur} of L.

For a number field F, let O_F be the ring of integers of F and, for each place v of F, take the v-adic completion F_v . For finite v, F_v has ring of integers $O_{F,v}$, and we abuse notation by denoting the maximal ideal of $O_{F,v}$, and that ideal's

intersection with O_F , as v. Let the Hilbert class field, class group and class number of F be respectively F_1 , Cl_F and h_F .

The spaces of adeles, finite adeles, ideles and finite ideles over F are written \mathbb{A}_F (as in [28, section VI.1]), $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}$, \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} , $\mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}$ respectively, with elements $z = (z_v)_v$ where each $z_v \in F_v$.

For finite v and a character (that is, a continuous group homomorphism) $\eta: F_v^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, the conductor of η is denoted $C(\eta)$, and η is called unitary when its image is in $\{z \in \mathbb{C}^{\times} : |z| = 1\}$.

For a Hecke character $\chi : F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, the conductor of χ is denoted $C(\chi)$, and χ_{v} is the restriction of $\chi : \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ to F_{v}^{\times} . For a fractional ideal $\mathfrak{a} = \prod_{v \nmid \infty} v^{a(v)}$ of F with each $a(v) \in \mathbb{Z}$, if \mathfrak{a} is coprime to $C(\chi)$, then write $\chi(\mathfrak{a})$ for the value of χ at an idele $z \in \mathbb{A}_{F,f}^{\times}$ with $zO_{F} = \mathfrak{a}$ and $z_{v} = 1$ for $v \mid C(\chi)$.

For a number field F, as in [1], let the Hecke character $N: F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ of conductor O_{F} be such that for F's fractional ideals \mathfrak{a} , the positive element of \mathbb{Q} that generates the fractional ideal $N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\mathfrak{a}$ of \mathbb{Q} as a \mathbb{Z} -module is $N(\mathfrak{a})$. For an integral ideal \mathfrak{a} of F, we have $N(\mathfrak{a}) = (O_{F}:\mathfrak{a})$.

We use the following notation from [35, section 2.1]. For a number field F, the extension F_{Σ}/F and the Galois groups G_F , $G_{F,\Sigma} = \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\Sigma}/F)$, $G_{F,v}$ and $I_{F,v}$ are defined in the standard way. For an imaginary quadratic extension K/\mathbb{Q} , let K_{∞}/K , K_{∞}^+/K and K_{∞}^-/K be the \mathbb{Z}_p^2 -extension, the cyclotomic extension and the anticyclotomic extension respectively of K, and write $\Gamma_K = \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}/K)$, $\Gamma_K^+ = \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}^+/K)$ and $\Gamma_K^- = \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}^-/K)$.

 $\Gamma_{K} = \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}/K), \ \Gamma_{K}^{+} = \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}^{+}/K) \ \text{and} \ \Gamma_{K}^{-} = \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}^{-}/K).$ For a cusp form $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n, f)q^{n}$, let $\mathbb{Q}(f) = \mathbb{Q}(a(n, f) : n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0})$ be the number field generated over \mathbb{Q} by all the a(n, f), and let $O(f) = \mathbb{Z}[a(n, f) : n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}]$ be the ring generated as a \mathbb{Z} -algebra by all the a(n, f).

2.2. Assumptions

The following assumptions apply throughout. In this paper's final theorem, the hypotheses will be these assumptions, plus some additional technical statements to be described later.

A prime p is fixed, together with an isomorphism $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$. Fix an unramified finite-degree field extension L/\mathbb{Q}_p .

Let the imaginary quadratic field extension K/\mathbb{Q} (with complex conjugation c) have squarefree discriminant $D_K \equiv 1 \mod 4$ with $D_K < -3$. Assume $K_1 \subseteq L$.

Let $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n, f)q^n \in S_k(\Gamma_0(N))$ be a non-CM newform of conductor N with a(1, f) = 1 such that $N \ge 5$ is an odd integer, k > 2 is an even integer, and k/2 is not congruent to 0 or 1 modulo p - 1. Assume $\mathbb{Q}(f) \subseteq L$.

Let the representations T_f , V_f , W_f be as defined in subsection 5.4. Assume $T_f/m_L T_f$ is an irreducible G_K -representation of dimension ≥ 2 .

Assume the following Heegner hypothesis: each prime factor of N splits or ramifies in K, at least one rational prime factor of N ramifies in K, and every prime $q \mid N$ ramifying in K is such that $q^2 \nmid N$. This implies that there is an ideal \mathfrak{C} of O_K for which the inclusion $\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow O_K$ induces an isomorphism $\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z} \cong O_K/\mathfrak{C}$; fix such an ideal \mathfrak{C} .

Let the prime p split in K as $p = v_0 \overline{v}_0$. Define the set $N_p = \{v_0, \overline{v}_0\}$.

For some representatives \mathfrak{a} of the class group of K, assume that the norms $N(\mathfrak{a})$ are *p*-adic units when viewed as elements of $\widehat{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}_p$.

Assume that $p \ge k/2$, the Fourier coefficient a(p, f) is a p-adic unit, and the prime p does not divide $(k-2)! \cdot 6N\phi(N)D_Kh_K \cdot (O_{\mathbb{Q}(f)}:O(f))$.

3. Class field theory

This section briefly reviews class field theory and Hecke characters. We use and adapt notation from [10, 11, 35]. For this section, take a discrete valuation ring O with $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \supseteq O \supseteq \mathbb{Z}_p$.

3.1. Class field theory and Galois extensions

For $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, the ray class group modulo $Mp^{\infty}\infty$ over \mathbb{Q} is

$$Z(M) = \mathbb{Q}_{>0}^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}^{\times} / U_{\mathbb{Q}}(Mp^{\infty}) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{\times} / U_{\mathbb{Q}}(Mp^{\infty})$$

where

$$U_{\mathbb{Q}}(Mp^{\infty}) = \{ z \in \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} : z_p = 1, z_{\ell} \in 1 + M\mathbb{Z}_{\ell} \text{ for finite } \ell \neq p \}.$$

For $p \nmid M$, we identify $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \cong Z(M)$ in the standard way.

For all $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, the cyclotomic character $\epsilon : Z(M) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ is identified via geometrically normalized Artin reciprocity with the Galois character describing the Galois action on roots of unity with order a power of p [35, section 2.2.3]. For a p-adic Galois representation U and an integer n, let $U(\epsilon^n) := U \otimes \epsilon^n$ be the twist of U by ϵ^n . (We write $U(\epsilon^n)$ instead of U(n) to keep the notation uniform and make the choice of normalization for ϵ clear.)

The classical Teichmüller character $\omega : \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ satisfies $\omega(y)^p = \omega(y) \equiv y \mod p\mathbb{Z}_p$ for $y \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. Define a Teichmüller character $\omega : Z(M) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$, with the same image as the previous ω , so that

- (a) If the embedding $\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}^{\times}$ sends $y \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ to $y_p \in \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}^{\times}$ in the equivalence class $[y_p] \in Z(M)$, then $\omega([y_p]) = \omega(y)$ (so $\epsilon([y_p]) \equiv \omega(y) \mod p\mathbb{Z}_p)$; and
- (b) Each element $(1, y_M \mod M\mathbb{Z}) \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times (\mathbb{Z}/M\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ corresponds to an element of Z(M) in the kernel of $\omega : Z(M) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$.

(Under geometrically normalized reciprocity, this ω corresponds to the inverse of the character denoted ω in both [35, section 2.2.4] and [37, Theorems 1.1-1.2].)

The embeddings $\mathbb{Z}_p \hookrightarrow O_{K,v_0}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_p \hookrightarrow O_{K,\overline{v}_0}$ are isomorphisms. Let the Teichmüller characters $\omega_{v_0} : O_{K,v_0}^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ and $\omega_{\overline{v}_0} : O_{K,\overline{v}_0}^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ send the embeddings of $y \in \mathbb{Z}_p$ in respectively O_{K,v_0} and O_{K,\overline{v}_0} to $\omega(y)$.

Write

$$Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) = K^{\times} \backslash \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} / U_K(\mathfrak{C}p^{\infty}) \cong K^{\times} \backslash \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} / (U_K(\mathfrak{C}p^{\infty})K_{\infty}^{\times})$$

where

$$U_K(\mathfrak{C}p^{\infty}) = \{ z \in \widehat{O}_K^{\times} : z_{v_0} = z_{\overline{v}_0} = 1, z_v \in 1 + \mathfrak{C}O_{K,v} \text{ for finite } v \nmid p \}.$$

Since \mathfrak{C} is relatively prime to $p = v_0 \overline{v}_0$ and $(O_K : \mathfrak{C}) > 1$ is odd, we have a standard group isomorphism

$$O_{K,v_0}^{\times} \times O_{K,\overline{v}_0}^{\times} \times Cl_K \times ((O_K/\mathfrak{C})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\}) \cong Z_K(\mathfrak{C})$$
(1)

which is the product of an isomorphism from

$$\omega_{v_0}[O_{K,v_0}^{\times}] \times \omega_{\overline{v}_0}[O_{K,\overline{v}_0}^{\times}] \times Cl_K \times ((O_K/\mathfrak{C})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\})$$
(2)

to $Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{tor}$, and an isomorphism

$$i: (1+v_0 O_{K,v_0}) \times (1+\overline{v}_0 O_{K,\overline{v}_0}) \stackrel{=}{\to} \Gamma_K$$

which is the composition of group maps

$$(1+v_0O_{K,v_0})\times(1+\overline{v}_0O_{K,\overline{v}_0})\hookrightarrow O_{K,v_0}^{\times}\times O_{K,\overline{v}_0}^{\times}\hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_K^{\times}\twoheadrightarrow Z_K(\mathfrak{C})/\mathrm{tor}\cong \Gamma_K$$

using geometrically normalized reciprocity and Galois theory in the usual way to identify $Z_K(\mathfrak{C})/\text{tor}$ and Γ_K . (There is no p-part in $(O_K/\mathfrak{C})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\}$ or Cl_K since $p \nmid \phi(N)h_K$.)

In K_{∞}/K , the maximum extension unramified at \overline{v}_0 (respectively, v_0) is the extension K_{v_0}/K (respectively, $K_{\overline{v}_0}/K$) such that K_{v_0} is the fixed field of $i[\{1\} \times (1 + \overline{v}_0 O_{K, \overline{v}_0})] \text{ (respectively, } K_{\overline{v}_0} \text{ is the fixed field of } i[(1 + v_0 O_{K, v_0}) \times \{1\}])$ in K_{∞} . The standard quotient map $pr_{v_0}: \Gamma_K \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K_{v_0}/K)$ sends $i(y_{v_0}, y_{\overline{v}_0}) \in$ Γ_K to the class of $i(y_{v_0}, 1)$ in $\operatorname{Gal}(K_{v_0}/K) \cong \Gamma_K/\operatorname{Gal}(K_{\infty}/K_{v_0})$.

The embeddings $\mathbb{Z}_p \hookrightarrow O_{K,v_0}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_p \hookrightarrow O_{K,\overline{v}_0}$ yield

$$(1+p\mathbb{Z}_p)^2 \cong (1+v_0 O_{K,v_0}) \times (1+\overline{v}_0 O_{K,\overline{v}_0}).$$

The group Γ_K^+ (respectively, Γ_K^-) is topologically generated by the element $\gamma_+ =$ $i((1+p)^{1/2}, (1+p)^{1/2})$ (respectively, $\gamma_{-} = i((1+p)^{1/2}, (1+p)^{-1/2}))$, or more precisely, by the class of that element in the appropriate quotient of Γ_K . The standard quotient map $pr_{ac}: \Gamma_K \to \Gamma_K^-$ sends $g = i(y_{v_0}, y_{\overline{v}_0}) \in \Gamma_K$ to the class of $(gg^{-c})^{1/2} = i(y_{v_0}^{1/2}y_{\overline{v}_0}^{-1/2}, y_{v_0}^{-1/2}y_{\overline{v}_0}^{1/2})$ in $\Gamma_K^- \cong \Gamma_K/\text{Gal}(K_\infty/K_\infty^-)$. Define the squaring maps $sq: Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \to Z_K(\mathfrak{C})$, $sq: \Gamma_K \to \Gamma_K$ and sq:

 $\operatorname{Gal}(K_{v_0}/K) \to \operatorname{Gal}(K_{v_0}/K)$ given by $g \mapsto g^2$.

Define the O-algebra maps $pr_{ac}: O[[\Gamma_K]] \twoheadrightarrow O[[\Gamma_K]], sq: O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]] \to$ $O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]]$ and $sq: O[[\Gamma_K]] \to O[[\Gamma_K]]$ by extending O-linearly and continuously.

Let $c: z \mapsto \overline{z}$ be the conjugation map on \mathbb{C} (or on any subfield of \mathbb{C} stable under conjugation). The group $\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q}) = \{1, c\}$ acts on Γ_K via conjugation (c sends $g \in \Gamma_K$ to $cgc^{-1} \in \Gamma_K$); c acts on Γ_K^+ , Γ_K^- as 1, -1 respectively.

3.2. Complex and p-adic Hecke characters

For a Hecke character $\chi: K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}$ with $\chi(z_{\infty}) = z_{\infty}^{t} \overline{z}_{\infty}^{u}$ identically for some $t, u \in \mathbb{Z}$, the *p*-adic avatar of χ is a *p*-adic Hecke character $\widetilde{\chi} : K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}$ $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}^{\times}$ satisfying

$$\chi(z) = (z_{\infty}^t \overline{z}_{\infty}^u) \cdot (z_{v_0}^{-t} z_{\overline{v}_0}^{-u}) \widetilde{\chi}(z_f)$$
(3)

(use $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$ to view $(z_{v_0}^{-t} z_{v_0}^{-u}) \widetilde{\chi}(z_f) \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ as belonging to \mathbb{C}^{\times}). Write $\chi = \widetilde{\chi}^{alg}$. The corresponding Galois character $\sigma_{\chi} : G_K \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ sends the geometric Frobenius at any $v \nmid pC(\chi)$ to χ_v of a uniformizer at v [35, section 2.2.1].

Recall the identification $Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \cong \Gamma_K \times Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}}$. Characters $P : \Gamma_K \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ and $\psi : Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$, respectively, can be precomposed with the projections $Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \twoheadrightarrow \Gamma_K$ and $Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \twoheadrightarrow Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}}$ to yield characters P and ψ from $Z_K(\mathfrak{C})$ to $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$, whose product $P\psi : Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ sends $(\sigma, \zeta) \in \Gamma_K \times Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}} \cong Z_K(\mathfrak{C})$ to $P(\sigma)\psi(\zeta)$. Precomposing with $K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \twoheadrightarrow Z_K(\mathfrak{C})$ gives a p-adic Hecke character $P\psi : K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$.

A continuous character $P_{ac}: \Gamma_K^- \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ gives a character $P = P_{ac} \circ pr_{ac}$: $\Gamma_K \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$. A character $\psi: Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}} \to O^{\times}$ yields a continuous *O*-algebra map $\psi_{\pm}: O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]] \to O[[\Gamma_K]]$ (respectively, $\psi_{ac}: O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]] \twoheadrightarrow O[[\Gamma_K^-]])$ which restricts to the identity (respectively, pr_{ac}) on Γ_K and which restricts to ψ on $Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}}$.

4. Modular forms

This section briefly reviews modular forms while fixing notation. From now on, let O be any ring with $O_L \subseteq O \subseteq \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \subseteq \widehat{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$.

4.1. p-adic modular forms

Let $\overline{S}_k(M, O)$ be the space of *p*-adic cusp forms of level *M* and weight *k* with Fourier coefficients in *O*, let $h_k(M, O)$ be its Hecke algebra, and let their nearly ordinary parts be $\overline{S}_k^{ord}(M, O)$ and $h_k^{ord}(M, O)$ respectively. (To be precise: in [10, 11], these correspond to $\overline{S}_{k,w}(V_1(M)(p^{\infty}), O)$, $h_{k,w}(V_1(M)(p^{\infty}), O)$, $\overline{S}_{k,w}^{n,ord}(V_1(M)(p^{\infty}), O)$ and $h_{k,w}^{n,ord}(V_1(M)(p^{\infty}), O)$ for a suitable choice of *w*, e.g., w = k/2 for *k* even.) Write the Fourier expansion of a *p*-adic cusp form $f \in \overline{S}_k(M, O)$ as $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n, f)q^n$. Let *e* be the ordinary projector.

There is a continuous multiplicative map $Z(M) \to h_k(M, O) : z \mapsto \langle z \rangle$ (see [10, sections 2-3] and [11, p. 334]), and for $a \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ yielding $a_p \in \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q},f}^{\times}$, there is a Hecke operator $\mathbf{T}(a_p) \in h_k(M, O)$ [11, pp. 330-332].

The perfect pairing

$$\overline{S}_k(M,O) \times h_k(M,O) \to O: (f,H) \mapsto a(1,f|H)$$

yields isomorphisms between each of its arguments and $\operatorname{Hom}_O(\cdot, O)$ of the other ([11, Theorem 3.1]; see also [10, Theorem 5.3]). Applying $\otimes_O \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ yields a perfect pairing over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ given by the same formula with each O replaced by $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$.

4.2. Hida families and parameterizations

This subsection introduces Hida families of modular forms, following [11, pp. 335-337].

Let the $O[[\Gamma_K]]$ -algebra I be contained in the integral closure of $O[[\Gamma_K]]$ in a finite-degree field extension of the quotient field of $O[[\Gamma_K]]$.

Let $\lambda : h_k(M, O) \to I$ be an O-algebra map such that for $\sigma \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$ corresponding to $z = [\sigma_p^{-1}] \in Z(M)$, the map λ sends $\langle z \rangle$ to $i(\sigma, \sigma) \in \Gamma_K$, and if $\sigma \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p \cong 1 + \overline{v}_0 O_{K,\overline{v}_0}^{\times}$, then λ sends $\mathbf{T}(\sigma_p^{-1})$ to $i(1, \sigma) \in \Gamma_K$.

Let $P: I \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ be an O-algebra map so that for some finite-order multiplicative characters $\varepsilon_P: 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ and $\varepsilon'_P: 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$, and for some $w \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have

- (a) $P(i(\sigma, \sigma)) = \sigma^{k-2w} \varepsilon_P(\sigma)$ for $\sigma \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$, and
- (b) $P(i(1,\sigma)) = \sigma^{1-w} \varepsilon'_P(\sigma)$ for $\sigma \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$.

Call such P arithmetic, following Hida [11, pp. 316, 335-337] as well as Skinner and Urban [35, section 3.3.8]. Write k(P) := k and w(P) := w.

From λ and P, we obtain the $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -algebra map $\lambda(P) : h_k(M, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ as the composite

$$h_k(M,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \xrightarrow{e} h_k^{ord}(M,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \xrightarrow{(P \circ \lambda) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{(P \circ \lambda) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$$

Define the finite-order characters $\psi_P: Z(M) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ and $\psi'_P: \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ by

$$\psi_P(\zeta[\sigma_p^{-1}]) = \epsilon(\zeta)^{k-2w} \cdot \lambda(P)(\langle \zeta \rangle) \cdot \varepsilon_P(\sigma) \psi_P'(\zeta'\sigma) = (\zeta')^{w-1} \cdot \lambda(P)(\mathbf{T}((\zeta')_p^{-1})) \cdot \varepsilon_P'(\sigma)$$

for $\zeta \in Z(M)_{\text{tor}}, \, \zeta' \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})_{\text{tor}}$ and $\sigma \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p$.

Via Hecke algebra duality, $\lambda(P)$ yields an eigenform $F(\lambda, P) \in \overline{S}_k(M, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ such that $a(1, F(\lambda, P)) = 1$ and, for each element H of the Hecke algebra, $F(\lambda, P)|H = \lambda(P)(H) \cdot F(\lambda, P).$

The map λ is a cuspidal Hida family; it corresponds to the collection of ordinary normalized eigenforms $F(\lambda, P)$ ranging over the arithmetic points $P: I \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$.

4.3. Theta series

In this subsection, we describe classical theta series and fit them into a Hida family. See [9, p. 257], [12, pp. 234-238] and [17, sections 5.1-5.2].

Let $\chi: K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a Hecke character so that for some $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ and some finite-order character $\psi: (O_{K}/C(\chi))^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, for all $a \in O_{K}$ coprime to $C(\chi)$, we have $\chi(aO_{K}) = a^{n}\psi(a)^{-1}$. Then the theta series of χ is $\theta_{\chi} = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \chi(\mathfrak{a})q^{N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathfrak{a}}$ with L-series $L(s, \theta_{\chi}) = L(s, \chi) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \chi(\mathfrak{a})(N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathfrak{a})^{-s}$ summing over nonzero integral ideals \mathfrak{a} of O_{K} coprime to $C(\chi)$. If

$$\varphi_K : (\mathbb{Z}/|D_K|\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \{\pm 1\}$$

is the Legendre-symbol character of K/\mathbb{Q} with $\varphi_K(\ell) = \left(\frac{D_K}{\ell}\right)$ for odd rational primes ℓ , then $\theta_{\chi} \in S_{n+1}(|D_K|(N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}C(\chi)), \varepsilon)$ for the character

$$\varepsilon : (\mathbb{Z}/|D_K|(N_{K/\mathbb{O}}C(\chi))\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$

with $\varepsilon(m) = \varphi_K(m)\psi^{-1}(m)$ for $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$.

The modular form θ_{χ} will now be fit into a Hida family.

Let the character $P_{-n,0}: \Gamma_K \cong Z_K(\mathfrak{C})/Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ satisfy $P_{-n,0}(i(y_{v_0}, y_{\overline{v}_0})) = y_{v_0}^{-n}$ for $y_{v_0} \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p \cong 1 + v_0 O_{K,v_0}$ and $y_{\overline{v}_0} \in 1 + p\mathbb{Z}_p \cong 1 + \overline{v}_0 O_{K,\overline{v}_0}$.

Interpreting a character $\psi : Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ as a finite-order character $\mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ whose restriction to \widehat{O}_K^{\times} corresponds to a Dirichlet character $(O_K/C(\psi))^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$, we have $C(\psi) \mid \mathfrak{C}v_0\overline{v}_0$, because ψ factors through

and $C(\psi)$ is determined by the restriction of ψ to \widehat{O}_K^{\times} .

For each ideal \mathfrak{a} of O_K coprime to $C(\psi)p,$ let

$$[\mathfrak{a}] \in Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \cong K^{\times} \backslash \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} / U_K(\mathfrak{C}p^{\infty})$$

be the class of some $z \in \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times}$ with $zO_K = \mathfrak{a}$ and $z_v = 1$ for $v \mid C(\psi)$. For an ideal \mathfrak{a} of O_K not coprime to $C(\psi)p$, let $[\mathfrak{a}] = 0 \in O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]]$.

In this paragraph, assume $C(\omega_{v_0}^{-n}\psi) = \mathfrak{C}v_0\overline{v}_0$. The character $\widetilde{\chi} = P_{-n,0}\omega_{v_0}^{-n}\psi$: $K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ is the *p*-adic avatar of a Hecke character $\chi : K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that for $a \in O_K$ coprime to $\mathfrak{C}v_0\overline{v}_0$, we have $\chi(aO_K) = a^n\psi^{-1}(a)$ (viewing $\chi(aO_K)$ as the value of χ at $a_f/a_{\mathfrak{C}v_0\overline{v}_0}$). Furthermore, as in [12, pp. 234-238], consider the O-algebra map $\lambda_1 : h_{2n+1,1}(pN|D_K|, O) \to O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]]$ with $\lambda_1(T(\ell)) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}:N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathfrak{a}=\ell}[\mathfrak{a}]$. Compose λ_1 with $(\omega_{v_0}^{-n}\psi)_{\pm} : O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]] \to O[[\Gamma_K]]$ to obtain a Hida family $\lambda : h_{2n+1,1}(N|D_K|p, O) \to O[[\Gamma_K]]$. Then $\theta_{\chi} = F(\lambda, P_{-n,0})$, so the Hida family λ interpolates θ_{χ} .

In this paragraph, assume $C(\omega_{v_0}^{-n}\psi) = \mathfrak{C}v_0$. As before, $P_{-n,0}\omega_{v_0}^{-n}\psi : Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ yields a character $\tilde{\chi} = P_{-n,0}\omega_{v_0}^{-n}\psi : K^{\times}\setminus\mathbb{A}_{K,f}^{\times} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$, which is the *p*-adic avatar of a Hecke character $\chi : K^{\times}\setminus\mathbb{A}_K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that for $a \in O_K$ coprime to \mathfrak{C} , we have $\chi(aO_K) = a^n\psi^{-1}(a)$. As before, compose λ_1 with the map $\psi_{\pm} : O[[Z_K(\mathfrak{C})]] \to O[[\Gamma_K]]$ to obtain the Hida family $\lambda : h_{2n+1,1}(N|D_K|, O) \to O[[\Gamma_K]]$. On the complex upper half plane, define the function $U\theta_{\chi}$ so that $U\theta_{\chi}(s) = \theta_{\chi}(s) - \chi(\overline{v}_0)\theta_{\chi}(ps)$; then $U\theta_{\chi}$ has *q*-expansion

$$U\theta_{\chi} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} a(n,\theta_{\chi}) & p \nmid n \\ 0 & p \mid n \end{array} \right\} q^{n}$$

and $U\theta_{\chi} = F(\lambda, P_{-n,0})$. This *p*-stabilized Hida family appears in *p*-adic *L*-function interpolation formulas later in the article.

5. Algebraic geometry and cohomology

5.1. Kuga-Sato varieties and projections

We refer to [1, 21, 23] as references.

Let Y(N), $Y_1(N)$, $Y_0(N)$ be the open modular curves over \mathbb{Q} , and let X(N), $X_1(N)$, $X_0(N)$ be the complete modular curves over \mathbb{Q} (see, e.g., [5]).

Let $j: Y(N) \hookrightarrow X(N)$ be the standard inclusion map. Let $\pi: \mathcal{E}_Y(\Gamma(N)) \to Y(N)$ be the universal elliptic curve. Let $\mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma(N)) \to X(N)$ be the universal generalized elliptic curve. For positive $r \in \mathbb{Z}$, the *r*th power of $\mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma(N))$ over X(N) has as its standard desingularization the Kuga-Sato variety $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma(N))$. Similarly define $j_1: Y_1(N) \hookrightarrow X_1(N), \pi_1: \mathcal{E}_Y(\Gamma_1(N)) \to Y(N), \mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma_1(N)) \to X_1(N)$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N))$. Fixing the "forget a $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})$ -basis vector" map $X(N) \to X_1(N)$, we get a map $\mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma(N)) \to \mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma_1(N))$, which yields maps $P_r: \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma(N)) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N))$.

Noting $p \nmid N\phi(N)$, we have the projection operators

$$\pi_B = (1/\#(\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N))) \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)} \sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_p \left[\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)\right]$$

$$\pi_{B,1} = (1/\#(\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N))) \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N)} \sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_p \left[\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N)\right].$$

For $t \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ and $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$, define the group $G(t, r) = ((\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^t \rtimes \{\pm 1\})^r \rtimes S_r$. The group G(0, r) acts on the *r*th power A^r of any elliptic curve A (see [1, p. 1052]; A^r can be viewed as a total space with fiber A^r over a base space consisting of one point), G(1, r) acts on $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N))$ (see [1, pp. 1056-1057]) and G(2, r) acts on $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma(N))$ (see [23, section 2] and [31, section 1.1]): the subgroup S_r permutes fiber components, then the subgroups $\{\pm 1\}$ multiply fiber components by ± 1 , then the subgroups $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^t$ translate fiber components by sections of order dividing N.

For $t \in \{0, 1, 2\}$, let the group map $c_t : G(t, r) \to \{\pm 1\}$ be 1 on each $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^t$ factor, the identity on each $\{\pm 1\}$ factor, and the sign map on S_r . Define

$$\pi_{t,r} = (1/\#G(t,r)) \sum_{\sigma \in G(t,r)} c_t(\sigma) \cdot \sigma \in \mathbb{Q}[G(t,r)].$$

Since $p \nmid (k-2)!$, we have $\pi_{2,k-2} \in \mathbb{Z}_p[G(2,k-2)]$.

Take a field $F \supseteq K_1$. For an elliptic curve A defined over F, where A has complex multiplication by O_K , we may choose F-vector space generators ω_A , η_A of $H^{1,0}_{dR}(A/F)$, $H^{0,1}_{dR}(A/F)$ respectively; then $\pi_{0,r}H^*_{dR}(A^r/F) = \operatorname{Sym}^r H^1_{dR}(A/F)$ is generated as an F-vector space by the r + 1 elements

$$\omega_A^j \eta_A^{r-j} = \binom{r}{j}^{-1} \sum_{S \subseteq \{1,2,\dots,r\}} \left(\left(\bigwedge_{s \in S} pr_s^* \omega_A \right) \wedge \left(\bigwedge_{s \in \{1,2,\dots,r\}-S} pr_s^* \eta_A \right) \right)$$

with $j \in \{0, 1, ..., r\}$; see [1, section 1.4]. Also, we have an isomorphism [1, Proposition 2.5]

$$S_{r+2}(\Gamma_1(N), F) \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^r H^1_{dR}(A/F) \cong \operatorname{Fil}^{r+1} \pi_{1,r} \pi_{0,r} H^{2r+1}_{dR}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^r/F)$$

sending $f \otimes \eta$ to $\omega_f \wedge \eta$ for the differential form ω_f corresponding to f as in [1, section 1.1].

5.2. Chow groups and Heegner cycles

This subsection gives definitions related to Chow groups and defines Heegner cycles that will be used later in the paper.

For an algebraic variety U defined over a field F, $CH^a(U/F)$ is the Chow group of codimension a cycles in U defined over F up to rational equivalence, and the subgroup $CH_0^a(U/F)$ is the group of such classes of cycles homologically equivalent to zero up to torsion (see [8, p. 426] and [26, section 1]).

See [21, section 4.1]. Recall the ideal \mathfrak{C} of O_K and the isomorphism $\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z} \cong O_K/\mathfrak{C}$ from subsection 2.2. The isogeny $\mathbb{C}/O_K \to \mathbb{C}/\mathfrak{C}^{-1}$ gives $x_0 \in X_0(N)(K)$ by CM theory. Choose an $x \in X(N)$ that is sent to x_0 under the standard map $X(N) \to X_0(N)$; the fiber E_x for $\mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma(N)) \to X(N)$ at x (which is also the fiber E_{x_1} for $\mathcal{E}_X(\Gamma_1(N)) \to X_1(N)$ at the image x_1 of x in $X_1(N)$) is an elliptic curve with complex multiplication by O_K , so the variety $\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})$ exists in E_x^2 . We have an embedding $i_x : E_x^{k-2} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))$. Define the Heegner cycle

$$\Delta_{Ma19} = \pi_B \pi_{2,k-2} (i_x)_* (\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}) \in CH^{k/2} (\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))/K_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$$

and let

$$Z_{Ma19} = N_{K_1/K} \Delta_{Ma19} \in N_{K_1/K} (CH^{k/2} (\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))/K_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p)$$

be the image of Δ_{Ma19} under the norm map $N_{K_1/K} = \sum_{g \in \text{Gal}(K_1/K)} g$.

See [2, section 3]. Similarly, with an embedding $i_{x_1} : E_{x_1}^{k-2} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$, we define

 $\Delta_{Ca13} = \pi_{B,1} \pi_{1,k-2} (i_{x_1})_* (\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}) \in CH^{k/2} (\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))/K_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$

as a Heegner cycle. Also, for an ideal \mathfrak{a} of $O_K,$ define the modified Heegner cycle

$$\Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}} = \pi_{B,1}\pi_{1,k-2}(\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}) \in CH^{k/2}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))/K_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$$

For an isogeny $\varphi : A \to A'$ between elliptic curves A and A', where A' has $\Gamma_1(N)$ structure, consider

$$\operatorname{Graph}(\varphi)^r \subseteq (A')^r \times A^r \subseteq \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^r$$

(embedding in the fiber in $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N))$ at the point linked to A') and the corresponding Heegner cycle $\Delta_{\varphi} = \pi_{1,r}\pi_{0,r}(\operatorname{Graph}(\varphi)^r)$ in $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^r$ (where $\pi_{1,r}, \pi_{0,r}$ act on $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N)), A^r$ respectively). For each nonzero integral ideal \mathfrak{a} of O_K and elliptic curve A, we have a "modulo \mathfrak{a} -torsion" isogeny $\varphi(A,\mathfrak{a}) : A \to A/A[\mathfrak{a}]$ (see [1, formula 1.4.7]).

Choose representatives \mathfrak{a} of the class group of K so that the numbers $N(\mathfrak{a})$ seen as elements of $\widehat{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}_p$ are *p*-adic units. Then, taking a sum over the classes $[\mathfrak{a}]$ of the class group of K, define

$$Z_{BeDaPr13} = \frac{1}{(k/2-1)!} \sum_{[\mathfrak{a}]} \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}^{k/2-1}(\mathfrak{a})} \cdot \Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})} \in CH(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times E_{x_1}^{k-2}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p$$

5.3. Cohomology

For a topological group G and a G-module U, see [29] for the definitions of the continuous cohomology groups $H^n(G, U)$, the restriction and corestriction maps $\operatorname{res}_{G/H} : H^n(G, U) \to H^n(H, U)$ and $\operatorname{cor}_{G/H} : H^n(H, U) \to H^n(G, U)$, and the conjugation maps $g_* : H^n(H, U) \to H^n(H, U)$ for $g \in G$ and certain subgroups H of G. For additional background, see [30, Appendix B] and [36].

If G acts on finitely generated free R-modules U_1 , U_2 for a commutative ring R with 1, then $H^1(G, \operatorname{Hom}_R(U_2, U_1)) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1(U_2, U_1)$ (see [38, Proposition 4] for the case $U_1 = U_2$); for subsection 5.4's representation V_f , this yields an isomorphism between $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, V_f)$ and the group $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_p, V_f)$ of crystalline extensions $V_f \hookrightarrow E \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Q}_p$ of $G_{K_{v_0}}$ -modules over \mathbb{Q}_p [26, section 3.4].

Suppose G acts linearly and continuously over a finitely-generated O_L -module U, and B is an O_L -submodule of $H^n(G, U)$. For an element $c \in B$ that is not in B_{tor} , define $\operatorname{ind}_p(c, B)$ to be the maximum of the set

$$\{M \in \mathbb{Z} : M \ge 0 \text{ and there is } c' \in B \text{ such that } c - p^M c' \in B_{tor} \}.$$

Intuitively, just as the *p*-index ind_p of a positive integer is the number of factors of *p* in the prime factorization of that integer, so $\operatorname{ind}_p(c, B)$ can be viewed as the number of factors of *p* in the class *c* thought of as an element of B/B_{tor} .

5.4. Galois representations

Recall subsection 5.1's projectors π_B , $\pi_{B,1}$, $\pi_{2,k-2}$.

The Galois representation T_p linked to f can be defined as follows [21, 23]: For the *p*-adic sheaf $\mathcal{F} = \varprojlim_n \mathcal{F}_n$ over Y(N) with the sheaves

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \operatorname{Sym}^{k-2}(R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{Z}/p^n)_{\mathcal{E}_Y(\Gamma(N))})$$

over Y(N), define the Galois representations

$$J_p = \pi_B H^1_{et}(X(N) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, j_* \mathcal{F})(\epsilon), \ T_p = \{ x \in J_p : I_f x = 0 \}$$

where I_f is the kernel of the O(f)-algebra map from the Hecke algebra with coefficients in \mathbb{Z} to $O_{\mathbb{Q}(f)}$ sending $T(\ell)$ to $a(\ell, f)$. As mentioned in [23, p. 102], because f is a newform, a map $R: J_p \to T_p$ exists such that R respects Hecke operators, R is $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -equivariant and for some non-negative integer c, the restriction of R to T_p is multiplication by p^c . By [23, Proposition 2.1] (which comes from [31, Theorem 1.2.1]) and [23, Lemma 2.2], $H_{et}^1(X(N) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, j_*\mathcal{F})$ is torsion free (this is nontrivial) and there are isomorphisms

$$\pi_{2,k-2}H^*_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))\otimes\overline{\mathbb{Q}},\mathbb{Z}/p^n)(\epsilon^{k/2-1})$$
$$\cong H^1_{et}(X(N)\otimes\overline{\mathbb{Q}},j_*\mathcal{F}_n)\cong H^1_{et}(X(N)\otimes\overline{\mathbb{Q}},j_*\mathcal{F})/p^n$$

so that identifying π_B with a projection on $\pi_{2,k-2}H^*_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))\otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}},\mathbb{Z}_p)$ yields

$$J_p \cong \pi_B \pi_{2,k-2} H^*_{et}(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N)) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)(\epsilon^{k/2}).$$

Using the standard map $O_{\mathbb{Q}(f)} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p \twoheadrightarrow O_{\mathbb{Q}(f), \varpi_{\mathbb{Q}(f)}} \hookrightarrow O_L$ for the first tensor product below, define

$$T_f = T_p \otimes_{O_{\mathbb{Q}(f)} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p} O_L, \ V_f = T_f \otimes_{O_L} L, \ W_f = T_f \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L).$$

The usual short exact sequence $T_f \hookrightarrow V_f \twoheadrightarrow W_f$ and maps $p^{-n}: T_f \twoheadrightarrow W_f[p^n]$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ exist, as in [30, sections 1.1-1.2].

Let V_f^a (respectively, V_f^g) be the Deligne/Scholl representations over L, pure² of weight 1-k (respectively, k-1), with $det(xI-F) = x^2 - a_\ell x + \ell^{k-1}$ the characteristic polynomial of arithmetic (respectively, geometric) Frobenius F at $\ell \nmid Np$ [4, section 12.5]. Then:

- (a) $V_f^g = \operatorname{Hom}_L(V_f^a, L).$
- (b) $V_f^g(\epsilon^{k/2})$ is self-dual by a Poincare duality map $V_f^g(\epsilon^{k/2}) \times V_f^g(\epsilon^{k/2}) \to L(\epsilon)$ [27, section 1.3], so $V_f^g(\epsilon^{k/2}) \cong V_f^a(\epsilon^{1-(k/2)}).$
- (c) $V_f \cong V_f^g(\epsilon^{k/2}) \cong V_f^a(\epsilon^{1-(k/2)})$ is pure of weight -1 and $\operatorname{Hom}_L(V_f, L(\epsilon)) \cong V_f$.

Let $T_f^g := T_f(\epsilon^{-k/2})$, so that $T_f^g \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \mathbb{Q}_p \cong V_f^g$ as Galois representations. For the *p*-adic sheaf $\mathcal{F}^1 = \operatorname{Sym}^{k-2}(R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{Z}_p)_{\mathcal{E}_Y(\Gamma_1(N))})$ over $Y_1(N)$, we similarly have an isomorphism (see [32, section 2.8])

$$\pi_{1,k-2}H^*_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))\otimes\overline{\mathbb{Q}},\mathbb{Z}_p)\cong H^1_{et}(X_1(N)\otimes\overline{\mathbb{Q}},j_{1,*}\mathcal{F}^1)$$

and we define

$$J_p^1 = \pi_{B,1} H_{et}^1(X_1(N) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, j_{1,*}\mathcal{F}^1)(\epsilon) \cong \pi_{B,1} \pi_{1,k-2} H_{et}^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)(\epsilon)$$

after identifying $\pi_{B,1}$ with a projector on $\pi_{1,k-2}H^*_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))\otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Z}_p)$. Note that $\mathcal{F}^1 = \pi_{Y(N)\to Y_1(N),*}\mathcal{F}$ (where $\pi_{Y(N)\to Y_1(N),*}$ has the obvious meaning); in fact,

$$J_p^1 = \pi_{B,1} H_{et}^1(X_1(N) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, j_{1,*}\mathcal{F}^1)(\epsilon) \cong \pi_B H_{et}^1(X(N) \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}, j_*\mathcal{F})(\epsilon) = J_p$$

(see [25, section II.2.5] for the analogous result with $X_0(N)$ instead of $X_1(N)$).

5.5. Selmer group conditions

We define the Bloch-Kato Selmer groups following [21, section 2.2]. (Note the small difference in principle between this and [23], which relaxes all conditions for places over N.) For a number field F, letting I_v be the inertia group in G_{L_v} for a place $v \nmid \infty$ of F, define

$$H^1_f(F_v, V_f) = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \ker(H^1(F_v, V_f) \to H^1(I_v, V_f)) & v \nmid p \\ \ker(H^1(F_v, V_f) \to H^1(F_v, V_f \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} B_{\operatorname{cris}})) & v \mid p \end{array} \right\}$$

 $^{^2}$ "Pure of weight w" means that the eigenvalues of geometric Frobenius at v have absolute value $(Nv)^{w/2}$

and let $H^1_f(F_v, T_f)$ (respectively, $H^1_f(F_v, W_f[p^n])$) be the inverse image (respectively, image) of $H^1_f(F_v, V_f)$ under the standard map $H^1(F_v, T_f) \to H^1(F_v, V_f)$ (respectively, $p^{-n} : H^1(F_v, T_f) \to H^1(F_v, W_f[p^n])$). Define the global Bloch-Kato Selmer groups

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_{f}^{1}(F,T_{f}) &=& \{c \in H^{1}(F,T_{f}) : \forall \text{ places } v \text{ of } F : c_{v} \in H_{f}^{1}(F_{v},T_{f})\} \\ H_{f}^{1}(F,V_{f}) &=& \{c \in H^{1}(F,V_{f}) : \forall \text{ places } v \text{ of } F : c_{v} \in H_{f}^{1}(F_{v},V_{f})\} \\ H_{f}^{1}(F,W_{f}) &=& \{c \in H^{1}(F,W_{f}) : \forall \text{ places } v \text{ of } F : c_{v} \in H_{f}^{1}(F_{v},W_{f})\}. \end{array}$$

The Shafarevich-Tate group is

$$\amalg_f(F, W_f) := H_f^1(F, W_f) / H_f^1(F, W_f)_{\text{div}}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

which has finite cardinality since the O_L -module $H_f^1(F, W_f)$ has finite corank. As in [15, section 2.3.4], we define the anticyclotomic Selmer groups

$$H^{1}_{ac}(K_{v}, V_{f}) = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \ker(H^{1}(K_{v}, V_{f}) \to H^{1}(I_{v}, V_{f})) & \text{split } v \nmid p\infty \\ H^{1}(K_{v}, V_{f}) & v = \overline{v}_{0} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{array} \right\}$$

$$H^{1}_{ac}(K, V_{f}) = \{ c \in H^{1}(K, V_{f}) : \forall \text{ places } v \text{ of } K : c_{v} \in H^{1}_{ac}(K_{v}, V_{f}) \}.$$

Define the local cohomology groups $H^1_{ac}(K_v, T_f)$, $H^1_{ac}(K_v, W_f)$ by taking preimages and images of $H^1_{ac}(K_v, V_f)$, and define the cohomology groups $H^1_{ac}(K, T_f)$, $H^1_{ac}(K, W_f)$ as the groups of global elements localizing to elements of $H^1_{ac}(K_v, T_f)$, $H^1_{ac}(K_v, W_f)$ respectively at all v.

5.6. The p-adic Abel-Jacobi map

As in [26, section 1], for any smooth proper variety U defined over a field F and any $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, there is a p-adic Abel-Jacobi map

$$AJ_F^U: CH_0^n(U/F) \to H^1(F, H^{2n-1}(\overline{U}_{et}, \mathbb{Z}_p))(\epsilon^n)$$

coming from the cycle class map and Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence. The Abel-Jacobi map is Galois equivariant (see [21, section 3.2] and [23, Proposition 4.2]) and commutes with pushforwards and pullbacks of correspondences ([23, proof of Proposition 4.2]; see [16, section 2] for the complex algebraic geometry version of this result).

We consider the p-adic Abel-Jacobi map in the following three different settings.

As described by [21, sections 3.1-3.3] and [23, chapters 2-4], for any field F containing \mathbb{Q} , there is a *p*-adic Abel-Jacobi map (extending the map $\Phi_{p,L}$ in [21] by \mathbb{Z}_p -linearity)

$$\Phi: CH_0^{k/2}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))/F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p \to H^1(F, H^{k-1}_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N)) \otimes \overline{F}, \mathbb{Z}_p(\epsilon^{k/2}))).$$

Composing Φ with the map that is $H^1(F, \cdot)$ of the composite

$$H^{k-1}_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))\otimes\overline{F},\mathbb{Z}_p(\epsilon^{k/2})) \xrightarrow{\pi_B\pi_{2,k-2}} J_p \xrightarrow{R} T_p$$

and then applying $\otimes O_L$ or $\otimes L$ yields compatible Abel-Jacobi maps

$$AJ_F : CH_0^{k/2}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))/F) \otimes O_L \to H_f^1(F, T_f)$$

$$AJ_F : CH_0^{k/2}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))/F) \otimes L \to H_f^1(F, V_f).$$

See [2]. Similarly,

$$\Phi_{Ca13}: CH_0^{k/2}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))/F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p \to H^1(L, H_{et}^{k-1}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \otimes \overline{F}, \mathbb{Z}_p(\epsilon^{k/2})))$$

is a *p*-adic Abel-Jacobi map which, together with the composition of maps

$$H^{k-1}_{et}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \otimes \overline{F}, \mathbb{Z}_p(\epsilon^{k/2})) \xrightarrow{\pi_{B,1}\pi_{1,k-2}} J^1_p \cong J_p \xrightarrow{R} T_p$$

and the application of $\otimes O_L$, yields an Abel-Jacobi map

$$AJ_F^1: CH_0^{k/2}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))/F) \otimes O_L \to H^1(F, T_f).$$

See [1, sections 3.1-3.4], taking that paper's r to be k-2. Let F be a field containing K_1 , let A and A' be elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q} , let A' have $\Gamma_1(N)$ structure, and let $\varphi : A \to A'$ be an isogeny for which Δ_{φ} is defined over F. (Note that $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^r$ is defined over \mathbb{Q} [1, p. 1056].) Define

$$\begin{split} J_{BeDaPr} &= \pi_{1,k-2} \pi_{0,k-2} H_{et}^{2k-3}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{k-2}, \mathbb{Q}_p(\epsilon^{k-1})) \\ J_{BeDaPr}^{\mathbb{Z}_p} &= \pi_{1,k-2} \pi_{0,k-2} H_{et}^{2k-3}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{k-2}, \mathbb{Z}_p(\epsilon^{k-1})) \\ J_{BeDaPr}^{dR} &= \pi_{1,k-2} \pi_{0,k-2} H_{dR}^{2k-3}((\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{k-2})/F)(\epsilon^{k-2}). \end{split}$$

There are compatible *p*-adic Abel-Jacobi maps

$$\begin{aligned} AJ_F^{1,A} &: CH_0^{k-1}((\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{k-2})/F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p &\to H_f^1(F, J_{BeDaPr}^{\mathbb{Z}_p}) \\ AJ_F^{1,A} &: CH_0^{k-1}((\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times A^{k-2})/F) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}_p &\to H_f^1(F, J_{BeDaPr}). \end{aligned}$$

5.7. Shafarevich-Tate-like groups

Following [21, section 3.3], we define a variant of the Shafarevich-Tate group which will be used in section 8.

For each positive $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the map $p^{-n} : T_f \to W_f[p^n]$ and the inclusion $W_f[p^n] \hookrightarrow W_f[p^{n+1}]$ yield maps on cohomology

$$p^{-n}: H^1(K, T_f) \to H^1(K, W_f[p^n]) 1: H^1(K, W_f[p^n]) \to H^1(K, W_f[p^{n+1}]).$$

These maps combine to form a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{1}(K,T_{f}) \xrightarrow{p^{-1}} H^{1}(K,W_{f}[p]) \\ \downarrow^{p} & \downarrow^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \downarrow^{p} & \downarrow^{1} \\ H^{1}(K,T_{f}) \xrightarrow{p^{-n}} H^{1}(K,W_{f}[p^{n}]) \\ \downarrow^{p} & \downarrow^{1} \\ H^{1}(K,T_{f}) \xrightarrow{p^{-(n+1)}} H^{1}(K,W_{f}[p^{n+1}]) \\ \downarrow^{p} & \downarrow^{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots \end{array}$$

from which the direct limit of the maps $p^{-n}: H^1(K, T_f) \to H^1(K, W_f[p^n])$ is a map

$$H^1(K, T_f) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) \to H^1(K, W_f).$$
(5)

Define $\operatorname{III}_{p^n}(K, W_f)$ to be the quotient of $H^1_f(K, W_f[p^n])$ by the image under the map $p^{-n} : H^1(K, T_f) \to H^1(K, W_f[p^n])$ of $(\operatorname{im} AJ_K)/p^n(\operatorname{im} AJ_K)$. Similarly, define the Shafarevich-Tate-like group $\operatorname{III}(K, W_f)$ to be the quotient of $H^1_f(K, W_f)$ by the image under the map (5) of $(\operatorname{im} AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$. Then we have a commutative diagram of short exact sequences

in which each term has finite size, and these sequences' direct limit is

$$(\operatorname{im} AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) \hookrightarrow H^1_f(K, W_f) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{III}(K, W_f)$$

which yields a surjection $\operatorname{III}(K, W_f) \to \operatorname{III}_f(K, W_f)$ by (4), since (im $AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ is divisible. Note that $\operatorname{III}_f(K, W_f)$ has finite cardinality.

5.8. Logarithms on local cohomology

In this subsection, we define logarithm maps on local cohomology groups. Recall that $H^1(K_{v_0}, V_f) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, V_f)$ via an isomorphism which takes the subgroup $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, V_f)$ to $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_p, V_f)$ (see [26, section 3.4]).

Define

$$\widetilde{V} := \pi_B \pi_{2,k-2} H^{k-1}_{dR}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma(N))/L)(\epsilon^{k/2})$$

and let $\operatorname{Ext}_{ffm}^1(L, \widetilde{V})$ consist of the classes of extensions $\widetilde{V} \hookrightarrow E \twoheadrightarrow L$ of filtered Frobenius modules [1, sections 3.2-3.3]. As in [1, sections 3.2-3.3] and [24, Proposition 1.21 and Corollary 1.22], since the extension L/\mathbb{Q}_p is unramified, an etale-versus-de-Rham-cohomology comparison theorem of Faltings [7, Theorem 5.6] yields a map

$$\operatorname{comp} : \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, J_{p} \otimes L) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{ffm}(L, \widetilde{V}) \cong \widetilde{V}/\operatorname{Fil}^{0}\widetilde{V}.$$

From the inclusion $T_p \hookrightarrow J_p$, we obtain a map

$$H^1_f(K_{v_0}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}_p, V_f)) \cong H^1_f(K_{v_0}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}_p, T_p \otimes L)) \to H^1_f(K_{v_0}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}_p, J_p \otimes L))$$

which, because of the isomorphism between $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, \cdot)$ and $\operatorname{Ext}^1_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_p, \cdot)$, is identified with a map

$$J' : \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, V_{f}) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, T_{p} \otimes L) \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, J_{p} \otimes L)$$

of which the image is sent by comp to a module which we'll call $\widetilde{U} \subseteq \widetilde{V}/\mathrm{Fil}^0\widetilde{V}$.

Define $\widetilde{\widetilde{V}}$ to be the annihilator of $\operatorname{Fil}^0 \widetilde{V}$ with respect to the Poincare duality map $\widetilde{V} \times \widetilde{V} \to L$ (see also [27, section 1.3.4]); then that duality gives an isomorphism $J: \widetilde{V}/\operatorname{Fil}^0 \widetilde{V} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_L(\widetilde{\widetilde{V}}, L).$

We define the logarithm as the composite

$$\log: J \circ \operatorname{comp} \circ J': H^1_f(K_{v_0}, V_f) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_p, V_f) \to \operatorname{Hom}_L(\widetilde{V}, L)$$

and, for a differential form $\eta \in \widetilde{\widetilde{V}}$, we define $\log_{\eta} : H_f^1(K_{v_0}, V_f) \to L$ as the map sending $C \in H_f^1(K_{v_0}, V_f)$ to $(\log C)(\eta)$; here we adapt notation of [15, section 3.5].

Those maps log, \log_{η} were adapted from the following logarithms of [1, sections 3.1-3.4]. Let F be a field containing K_1 ; let A be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} . There is an isomorphism

$$\log_F^{1,A} : H^1_f(F, J_{BeDaPr}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Hom}_F(\operatorname{Fil}^1 J^{dR}_{BeDaPr}, F)$$

given in [1, p. 1070] as the composition of three vertical maps in that source's diagram: the isomorphism $H^1_f(F, \cdot) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^1_{cris}(\mathbb{Q}_p, \cdot)$, then a comparison isomorphism, then a Poincare duality map. Precomposing $\log_F^{1,A}$ with the canonical map $H^1_f(F, J^{\mathbb{Z}_p}_{BeDaPr}) \to H^1_f(F, J_{BeDaPr})$ yields a map

$$\log_F^{1,A,\mathbb{Z}_p}: H^1_f(F, J^{\mathbb{Z}_p}_{BeDaPr}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_F(\operatorname{Fil}^1 J^{dR}_{BeDaPr}, F).$$

From $\log_F^{1,A}$ and $\log_F^{1,A,\mathbb{Z}_p}$, for each $\eta \in \operatorname{Fil}^1 J_{BeDaPr}^{dR}$ we obtain compatible maps

$$\log_{\eta,F}^{1,A} : H^1_f(F, J_{BeDaPr}) \to F$$
(6)

$$\log_{\eta,F}^{1,A,\mathbb{Z}_p} : H_f^1(F, J_{BeDaPr}^{\mathbb{Z}_p}) \to F$$
(7)

sending a cohomology class C to $(\log_F^{1,A} C)(\eta)$ and $(\log_F^{1,A,\mathbb{Z}_p} C)(\eta)$ respectively. We may take $\eta = \omega_f \wedge \omega_A^{k/2-1} \eta_A^{k/2-1}$ for [1]'s differential forms $\omega_f, \omega_A, \eta_A$.

6. L-functions

6.1. The Rankin-Selberg L-function

For classical cusp forms g, h that are eigenforms for the Hecke operators away from their levels, we have the classical Rankin-Selberg L-function $L(s, g \times h)$. We write $L^p(s, g \times h)$ for the L-function $L(s, g \times h)$ without the Euler factor over p.

For classical modular forms $g, h \in S_{k'}(\Gamma_0(M), \chi)$ for a common Dirichlet character χ , the related function $D(s, g, h^c) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(n, g) a(n, h^c) / n^s$ satisfies

$$\langle g,h\rangle_{\Gamma_0(M)} = \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_0(M)\backslash\mathfrak{h}) \cdot (\Gamma(k')/(4\pi)^{k'})\operatorname{res}_{s=k'} D(s,g,h^c)$$
(8)

as can be shown using the Rankin-Selberg method [34, p. 35], where

$$\langle g,h\rangle_{\Gamma_0(M)} = \int_{\Gamma_0(M)\backslash\mathfrak{h}} g(\tau)\overline{h(\tau)}y^{k'}\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y/y^2$$

is the Petersson inner product (denoting $\tau = x + iy \in \mathbb{C}$).

See, for instance, [1, pp. 1088-1089] and [3, pp. 222-224].

6.2. Local characters and representations

The following expressions will appear in p-adic L-function interpolation formulas. Notation is adapted from that of [11, 12, 37].

For a (not necessarily unitary) character $\eta:\mathbb{Q}_p^\times\to\mathbb{C}^\times,$ define

$$g_p(\eta) = \sum_{u \in (\mathbb{Z}_p/C(\eta))^{\times}} \eta^{-1}(u) \exp\left(-2\pi i \frac{u}{C(\eta)}\right)$$

where the ideal $C(\eta)$ of \mathbb{Z}_p is identified with a generator of the form $p^t, t \in \mathbb{Z}$. Similarly, for a (not necessarily unitary) character $\eta : K_{v_0}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, define

$$g_{v_0}(\eta) = \frac{\eta(C(\eta))}{N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(C(\eta))} \sum_{u \in (O_{K,v_0}/C(\eta))^{\times}} \eta^{-1}(u) \exp\left(-2\pi i \operatorname{Tr}_{K_{v_0}/\mathbb{Q}_p}\left(\frac{u}{2\delta C(\eta)}\right)\right)$$

where the ideal $C(\eta)$ of O_{K,v_0} is identified with a generator of the form p^t , $t \in \mathbb{Z}$, and where the number $\delta \in (\mathbb{R}_{>0}i) \cap K$ is chosen so that the fractional ideal $\{\operatorname{Tr}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(x\overline{y}/(2\delta)) : x, y \in O_K\}$ of \mathbb{Q} is coprime to pN.

Recall that for (not necessarily unitary) characters $\eta : \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ and $\eta' : \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, we have the principal series representation $\pi(\eta, \eta')$ or (for $\eta' = \eta | \cdot |_p^{-1})$ special representation $\sigma(\eta, \eta')$, which is an infinite-dimensional irreducible subquotient of the space of locally constant functions $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathbb{C}$ on which the character

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a & *\\0 & d\end{array}\right) \mapsto \eta(a)\eta'(d)|a/d|_p^{1/2}$$

gives the action of the Borel subgroup of $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ by left translation.

For P and λ as in subsection 4.2, let the characters $\eta_{P,p}, \eta'_{P,p} : \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be so that for the automorphic representation $\pi(F(\lambda, P)) \cong \widehat{\otimes}_v \pi_v(F(\lambda, P))$ of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_Q)$ corresponding to $F(\lambda, P)$ (see for example [10], [11], [14, section 9] and [20, p. 333]), we have that $\pi_p(F(\lambda, P))$ is equivalent to $\pi(\eta_{P,p}, \eta'_{P,p})$ or $\sigma(\eta_{P,p}, \eta'_{P,p})$.

6.3. p-adic L-functions

This subsection gives interpolation formulas for different *p*-adic *L*-functions. Fix an even positive integer *k*. In this subsection, the character $P_{ac}: \Gamma_K^- \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ and the anticyclotomic character $\psi: Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ are allowed to vary so that, for the characters $P = P_{ac} \circ pr_{ac}: \Gamma_K \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ and $P\psi: Z_K(\mathfrak{C}) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$, there is a positive integer $n \ge k/2$, depending on P_{ac} , such that $(P\psi)^{alg}(z_{\infty}) = z_{\infty}^n \overline{z_{\infty}^{-n}}$. Define the variable $j = (2n-k)/2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$. Each interpolation formula evaluates $P_{ac}: \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]] \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ at a *p*-adic *L*-function.

6.3.1. The Katz p-adic L-function of Hida and Tilouine

Let the Hecke character $\xi : K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ with infinity type $z_{\infty} \mapsto z_{\infty}^{k+j} \overline{z}_{\infty}^{-j}$ be such that $\xi \xi^{-c}$ has *p*-adic avatar induced from $(P\psi) \circ sq$.

From a 1993 paper of Hida and Tilouine [12] (see also [37, Definition 7.8]), there is a Katz *p*-adic *L*-function $L_{Katz}^{-}(K) \in \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}^{-}]]$ satisfying the interpolation formula

$$P_{ac}(L_{Katz}^{-}(K)) = F_{93}C_{1,93}C_{2,93}^{n}$$
(9)

where the function F_{93} and the constants $C_{1,93}$, $C_{2,93}$ are given by

$$F_{93} = L(1,\xi\xi^{-c})g_{v_0}((\xi^{-1}\xi^c)_{v_0})\Gamma(2n+1)$$

$$\cdot (1-p^{-1}\xi\xi^{-c}(\overline{v}_0))(1-\xi\xi^{-c}(\overline{v}_0))\prod_{v|\mathfrak{C}}(1-(Nv)^{-1}\xi\xi^{-c}(v)),$$

$$C_{1,93} = 2\mathrm{im}(\delta)/\pi, \ C_{2,93} = (\Omega_p/\Omega_\infty)^4 (\pi/\mathrm{im}(\delta))^2$$

for certain periods $\Omega_p \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}$, $\Omega_\infty \in \mathbb{C}$ defined in [12], using subsection 6.2's δ .

6.3.2. The L-function of Hida

Consider Hida families

$$\lambda: h_{2n+1}(N|D_K|, \widehat{O}_L^{ur}) \to \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]] \text{ and } \lambda': h_k(N, \widehat{O}_L^{ur}) \to \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]].$$

Fix Q so that $F(\lambda', Q) = f^c$, $\psi'_Q = 1$ and k(Q) = k. Let $P_1 = P \circ sq \circ pr_{v_0}$. Assume $\psi'_{P_1} = 1$ (this is an assumption about λ). Assume that each of $p^{\gamma(p)} = C(\eta_{Q,p})$, $p^{\gamma'(p)} = C(\eta'_{Q,p})$, $p^{\delta(p)} = C(\eta'_{P_1,p})$ has at least one factor of p. Assume $F(\lambda, P_1)$ is p-ordinary.

From a 1991 paper of Hida [11], there is a *p*-adic L-function $D_Q^- \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]]$ satisfying the interpolation formula

$$P_{ac}(D_Q^-) = F_{91}C_{1,91}C_{2,91}^n \tag{10}$$

with

$$F_{91} = \frac{1}{W'(F(\lambda, P_1))} \cdot \frac{g_p(\eta_{Q,p})g_p(\eta'_{Q,p})}{g_p(\eta'_{P_1,p})}$$
$$\cdot \frac{\Gamma(n + \frac{1}{2}k)\Gamma(n - \frac{1}{2}k + 1)p^{\delta(p)}}{\eta_{P_1,p}(p^{\gamma(p) + \gamma'(p)})\eta'_{P_1,p}\eta_{P_1,p}^{-1}(p^{\delta(p)})} \cdot \frac{L^p(0, F(\lambda, P_1) \times f)}{\langle F(\lambda, P_1), F(\lambda, P_1) \rangle_{\Gamma_0(N|D_K|)}}$$
$$C_{1,91} = \eta_{Q,p}(p^{\gamma(p) + \gamma'(p)}) \cdot \psi_Q \psi'_Q(-1)W'(f^c)\sqrt{N|D_K|}/(2\pi),$$
$$C_{2,91} = 1/(16\pi^2|D_K|)$$

where for primitive cusp forms $f_1 \in S_{k'}(\Gamma_1(M))$ of level M, the number $W'(f_1)$ is described in Hida [11, pp. 344-345] as part of a decomposition $W(f_1) = W'(f_1)W_p(f_1)$ of the W factor $W(f_1) \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|W(f_1)| = 1$ such that

$$M^{k'/2-1}f_1|_{k'} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ M & 0 \end{pmatrix} = W(f_1)f_1^c;$$

see also [5, exercises 1.5.4, 5.5.1 and section 5.10] and [11, pp. 344-345] (where formula (4.10b) should have no minus sign).

6.3.3. The L-function of Wan

For this subsubsection, let $I = \hat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]]$. Fix an irreducible component of $I \widehat{\otimes}_{O_L} \widehat{O}_L^{ur}$, and let that component's associated ring have normalization \widehat{I}^{ur} (see [37, before Theorem 1.1]).

For a set S of finitely many places of K including v_0 and \overline{v}_0 , Wan [37, section 7.5] defines two related p-adic L-functions in $\widehat{I}^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]]$ which we call \widetilde{L}^S_{Wan} and L^S_{Wan} (Wan calls them $\mathcal{L}^{S,Hida}_{\mathbf{f},\xi,\mathcal{K}}$ and $\mathcal{L}^S_{\mathbf{f},\xi,\mathcal{K}}$ respectively). For the Hida family $Q: I \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ corresponding to f, write $\widetilde{L}^S_{Wan}(f) = Q(\widetilde{L}^S_{Wan})$ and $L^S_{Wan}(f) = Q(L^S_{Wan})$; let their images under pr_{ac} be $\widetilde{L}^{-,S}_{Wan}(f)$ and $L^{-,S}_{Wan}(f)$ respectively.

We have $\widetilde{L}_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f) = D_Q^- L_{Katz}^-(K)$, and $L_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f) = C_{Wan} \widetilde{L}_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f)$ for a constant $C_{Wan} \in O_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$ which Wan calls $C_{\mathbf{f},K,\xi}$. Starting with $\widetilde{L}_{Wan}^{N_p}$ or $L_{Wan}^{N_p}$ and omitting Euler factors at primes over $S \setminus N_p$ yields \widetilde{L}_{Wan}^S or L_{Wan}^S respectively.

6.3.4. The BDP L-function

Let the Hecke character $\chi : K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be so that $P\psi$ is the *p*-adic avatar of $\chi^{-1} \mathbb{N}^{k/2}$. Let \mathfrak{b} be an ideal of O_K coprime to Np, and let b_N be a number in O_K , such that $\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{C} = b_N O_K$.

From a 2013 paper of Bertolini, Darmon and Prasanna [1], there is a *p*-adic *L*-function $L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f) \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]]$ satisfying the interpolation formula

$$P_{ac}(L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)) = F_{13}C_{1,13}C_{2,13}^n \tag{11}$$

with

$$\begin{split} F_{13} &= \Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}k\right) \Gamma\left(n - \frac{1}{2}k + 1\right) (P\psi)^{alg}(\mathfrak{b})\psi_{(O_K/\mathfrak{C})^{\times}}(N_{K/\mathbb{Q}}\mathfrak{b}) \\ &\quad \cdot (1 - \chi^{-1}(\overline{v}_0)a(p, f) + \chi^{-2}(\overline{v}_0)p^{k-1})^2 \cdot L(0, \theta_{\chi^{-1}} \times f), \\ C_{1,13} &= \frac{2\sqrt{|D_K|}}{4\pi(-1)^{k/2}} W(F(\lambda', Q)), \ C_{2,13} &= \frac{\Omega_p^4 \pi^2}{\Omega_{\infty}^4} \cdot \frac{b_N^2 |\mathfrak{b}|_{\mathbb{A},K}}{-N} \end{split}$$

where $\psi_{(O_K/\mathfrak{C})^{\times}}$ is obtained by precomposing ψ with the projection from $Z_K(\mathfrak{C})_{\text{tor}}$ to its $(O_K/\mathfrak{C})^{\times}/\{\pm 1\}$ part, using the decomposition (2), and the periods Ω_p , Ω_{∞} are as before, following the argument of [15, section 5.2].

As in [15, section 5.1], for a set S of finitely many places of K such that $S \supseteq N_p$, define

$$L_{BDP}^{-,S}(f) = L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f) \cdot \prod_{v \in S \setminus N_p} L_v(f)$$

where $L_v(f)$ is the Euler factor at v.

6.4. Comparison and missing factor

The line of argument of [15] is followed and adapted. The arithmetic \widehat{O}_L^{ur} algebra map $P_{ac}: \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]] \to \widehat{O}_L^{ur}$ and the character χ are as before.

From subsection 6.3's interpolation formulas (9), (10) and (11), we obtain

$$P_{ac}(\tilde{L}_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f)) = P_{ac}(D_Q^- L_{Katz}^-(K)) = C(f, P_{ac})P_{ac}(L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f))$$

writing $C(f, P_{ac}) = \widetilde{F}\widetilde{C}_1\widetilde{C}_2^n$ where we define

$$\widetilde{F} := \frac{F_{91}F_{93}}{F_{13}}, \ \widetilde{C}_1 := \frac{C_{1,91}C_{1,93}}{C_{1,13}}, \ \widetilde{C}_2 := \frac{C_{2,91}C_{2,93}}{C_{2,13}}$$

As in the argument of [15, section 5.2], \widetilde{F} is a constant times the *n*th power of a constant. (We have $U\theta_{\chi^{-1}} = F(\lambda, P_1)$ and

$$\frac{L(1,\xi\xi^{-c})\Gamma(2n+1)}{\langle U\theta_{\chi^{-1}}, U\theta_{\chi^{-1}}\rangle_{\Gamma_0(N|D_K|)}} = (\text{constant})(16\pi^2)^n$$

by equation (8) and the fact that

$$\operatorname{res}_{s=2n+1} D(s, U\theta_{\chi^{-1}}, U\theta_{\chi^{-1}}^c) = (\operatorname{constant})L(1, \xi\xi^{-c})$$

holds.) So we can write $C(f, P_{ac}) = C_1 C_2^n$ for constants C_1, C_2 .

6.5. Interpolation

Lemma 6.1. There is a constant $C_1 \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[1/p]^{\times}$ and a p-adic unit $u \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]]^{\times}$ such that for all P_{ac} with $\phi(pN) = (p-1)\phi(N) \mid n$, we have $P_{ac}(C_1u) = C(f, P_{ac})$.

Proof. Let C_1 be as in subsection 6.4, and let u be such that $P_{ac}(u) = C_2^n$ identically; this is possible since $\psi^{\phi(pN)} = 1$ and the infinity type exponents of $P\psi$ are $\pm n$.

The maps P_{ac} as in Lemma 6.1 are dense in Spec $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]]$, so $\widetilde{L}_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f) = D_Q^- L_{Katz}^-(K) = C_1 u L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)$. So we have shown the following theorem.

Theorem 6.2. In $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]] \otimes_{O_L} L = \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]][1/p]$, we have

$$(L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)) = (\widetilde{L}_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f)) \supseteq (L_{Wan}^{-,N_p}(f))$$

7. From Wan's *L*-function to cohomology: Iwasawa theory

This section collects progress in one direction of an Iwasawa main conjecture and, as a consequence, links Wan's L-function to the cohomology of the $(\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$ representation W_f of the modular form f.

7.1. Notation

We use and adapt notation of [11, 35, 37].

As in subsection 4.2, take a cuspidal Hida family $\lambda : h_{k,w}(N, O_L) \to I$, with I a finite-rank $\mathbb{Z}_p[[t]]$ -module and an integrally closed domain, and let the continuous \mathbb{Z}_p -algebra map $Q: I \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ correspond to f via λ , with $Q[I] = O_L$.

Choose an irreducible component of $I \widehat{\otimes}_{O_L} \widehat{O}_L^{ur}$, and let the normalization of that component's associated ring be \widehat{I}^{ur} (see [37, before Theorem 1.1]).

Let T_{λ} be the Galois representation coming from λ . (In [35, section 3.3.10], T_{λ} is denoted by $\rho_{\mathbf{f}}$; Hecke duality identifies that source's \mathbf{f} with our λ .) We have $T_{\lambda} \cong I^2$ and $T_f^g \cong O_L^2$; for a sufficiently large L/\mathbb{Q}_p , we have $T_{\lambda} \otimes_I O_L \cong T_f^g$.

Let $\Psi_K : G_K \to \Gamma_K \subseteq O_L[[\Gamma_K]]^{\times}, \Psi_- : G_K \to \Gamma_K^- \subseteq O_L[[\Gamma_K^-]]^{\times}$ be the standard projections. Write $(\cdot)^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{O_L}(\cdot, L/O_L)$ for the Pontryagin dual. The module $O_L[[\Gamma_K]]$ acts on $O_L[[\Gamma_K]]^*$ so that (xF)(y) = F(yx) for $x, y \in \Lambda_K$ and $F \in O_L[[\Gamma_K]]^*$. Define the modules

$$T_{\lambda,K,\xi} = T_{\lambda}\sigma_{\xi^{-c}}(\epsilon^{2-(\kappa/2)}) \otimes_{I[[\Gamma_K]]} I[[\Gamma_K]](\Psi_K^{-c})$$

$$T_{f,K,\xi} = T_f^g \sigma_{\xi^{-c}}(\epsilon^{2-(\kappa/2)}) \otimes_{O_L[[\Gamma_K]]} O_L[[\Gamma_K]](\Psi_K^{-c}).$$

For any finite set S of finite places of K, such that S includes v_0 , \overline{v}_0 and all places at which V_f ramifies, define the modules

$$\begin{aligned} Sel_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S} &= \{c \in H^{1}(K, T_{\lambda,K,\xi} \otimes I[[\Gamma_{K}]]^{*}) : c \text{ unramified at } \overline{v}_{0} \text{ and outside } S \} \\ Sel_{f,K,\xi}^{S} &= \{c \in H^{1}(K, T_{f,K,\xi} \otimes O_{L}[[\Gamma_{K}]]^{*}) : c \text{ unramified at } \overline{v}_{0} \text{ and outside } S \} \\ X_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S} &= (Sel_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S})^{*} \\ X_{f,K,\xi}^{S} &= (Sel_{f,K,\xi}^{S})^{*} \\ \widehat{X}_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S} &= X_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S} \otimes I[[\Gamma_{K}]] \widehat{I}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \\ \widehat{X}_{f,K,\xi}^{S} &= X_{f,K,\xi}^{S} \otimes O_{L}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]. \end{aligned}$$

7.2. Main conjecture for Hida families

Wan proved the following main conjecture (see [37]; the result is in the final proof of that source's Theorem 1.2):

Theorem 7.1 (Main conjecture). Assume some nebentypus-1 weight-2 specialization f_0 of a Hida family λ satisfies:

- (i) f_0 is the ordinary stabilization of a newform of level divisible by some odd prime q not split in K.
- (ii) The Galois representation $T_{f_0}^g$ has irreducible residual representation $\overline{T_{f_0}^g}|G_K$, and $\overline{T_{f_0}^g}$ is ramified at q.

Suppose the Hecke character $\xi : K^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{K}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}$ is of infinity type $z_{\infty} \mapsto z_{\infty}^{u} \overline{z_{\infty}}^{-u}$ for some positive integer u divisible by p-1, and is such that the p-adic avatar of $\xi | \cdot |_{K}^{u}(\omega_{v_{0}} \cdot \omega_{\overline{v_{0}}})$ factors through Γ_{K} .

Let S be a set of finitely many places of K, including all places dividing pND_K .

Then, letting P_1, \ldots, P_t be the height 1 primes in $\widehat{I}^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]]$ dividing L_{Wan}^S that are pullbacks of height 1 primes in \widehat{I}^{ur} , we have

$$L^{S}_{Wan}\widehat{I}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]_{p,P_{1},\ldots,P_{t}} \supseteq \operatorname{Fitt}_{\widehat{I}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]_{p,P_{1},\ldots,P_{t}}} \widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi}$$

in which the notation $\widehat{I}^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]]_{p,P_1,\ldots,P_t}$ indicates localization with respect to the primes P_i and p as in [37].

7.3. From Hida families to modular forms

We follow the argument in the proof of [37, Theorem 1.2]. In this subsection, S is a set of finitely many places of K including all places over pND_K .

Recall $L_{Wan}^{S}(f) = Q(L_{Wan}^{S}) \in \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L$ for Q corresponding to f via λ . Applying Q to Theorem 7.1's result, and noting $\operatorname{Fitt}_{R/I}(M/IM) = (\operatorname{Fitt}_{R}M)(R/I)$ for an R-module M and ideal I in a noetherian ring R (see [6, Corollary 20.5], [35, section 3.1.5] and [37, section 2.2]), we obtain

$$L^{S}_{Wan}(f)(\widehat{O}^{ur}_{L}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L) \supseteq \operatorname{Fitt}_{\widehat{O}^{ur}_{L}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L} \left(\frac{\widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_{L}} L}{(\ker Q)(\widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_{L}} L)} \right)$$

and therefore

$$L^{S}_{Wan}(f)(\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L) \supseteq \operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L} \left(\frac{\widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_{L}} L}{(\ker Q)(\widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_{L}} L)} \right)$$

because the characteristic ideal is the minimum principal ideal containing the Fitting ideal (see the last sentence in the proof of [15, Corollary 3.4.2]).

Now Wan [37, Proposition 2.4] proved an $O_L[[\Gamma_K]]$ -module version of the following result for f of weight 2; that argument carries through for higher weight to give:

Theorem 7.2. There is an $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]]$ -module exact sequence

$$M \to \widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi} / (\ker Q) \widehat{X}^{S}_{\lambda,K,\xi} \to \widehat{X}^{S}_{f,K,\xi} \to 0$$

where $M \otimes_{O_L} L$ has annihilator of codimension ≥ 2 in Spec $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]] \otimes L$, i.e., is pseudo-null. In $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]] \otimes_{O_L} L$, this implies

$$\operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]\otimes_{O_{L}}L}\left(\frac{\widehat{X}_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S}\otimes_{O_{L}}L}{(\operatorname{ker}Q)(\widehat{X}_{\lambda,K,\xi}^{S}\otimes_{O_{L}}L)}\right) = \operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]\otimes_{O_{L}}L}(\widehat{X}_{f,K,\xi}^{S}\otimes_{O_{L}}L)$$

so

$$L^{S}_{Wan}(f)(\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L) \supseteq \operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] \otimes_{O_{L}} L}(\widehat{X}^{S}_{f,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_{L}} L).$$

7.4. From Greenberg to anticyclotomic: characteristic ideals

In this subsection, the set S is as before. The following arguments are adapted from [15, section 3.4] (that source's Σ is our $S \setminus N_p$).

Define $M = T_{f,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_L} O_L[[\Gamma_K^-]]^*$ and $\mathcal{M} = T_{f,K,\xi} \otimes_{O_L} O_L[[\Gamma_K]]^*$ analogously to [15]. For $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} \in \{M, \mathcal{M}\}$ and $\bullet \in \{\mathrm{ac,Gr}\}$:

- (a) Identify $H^1(K_S/K, \widetilde{M})$ with the space of classes in $H^1(K, \widetilde{M})$ unramified at all primes outside S (see [30, Lemma 1.5.3]).
- (b) Let $H^1_{\bullet}(K, \tilde{M}) \subseteq H^1(K_S/K, \tilde{M})$ be the space of classes in $H^1(K, \tilde{M})$ satisfying the following conditions:
 - If $\bullet = \operatorname{ac}$ ("ac" is for "anticyclotomic"): no condition at v_0 , unramified at finite primes outside N_p splitting in K, 0 at all other primes.
 - If \bullet = Gr ("Gr" is for "Greenberg"): no condition at v_0 , unramified at all other primes.

Let $H^1_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(K,\widetilde{M}) \subseteq H^1(K_S/K,\widetilde{M})$ be the space of classes in $H^1(K,\widetilde{M})$ satisfying the above conditions at primes outside $S\setminus N_p$ (but not necessarily at primes in $S\setminus N_p$: the conditions are relaxed at these primes).

(c) Define

$$\begin{array}{lcl} X_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(\widetilde{M}) &=& (H^1_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(K,\widetilde{M}))^* \\ \widehat{X}_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(M) &=& X_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(M) \otimes_{O_L[[\Gamma_K^-]]} \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]] \\ \widehat{X}_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(\mathcal{M}) &=& X_{\bullet,S\setminus N_p}(\mathcal{M}) \otimes_{O_L[[\Gamma_K]]} \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K]] \end{array}$$

Note that $Sel_{f,K,\xi}^S = H^1_{Gr,S\setminus N_p}(K,\mathcal{M})$ and $X_{f,K,\xi}^S = X_{Gr,S\setminus N_p}(\mathcal{M})$. The argument of [15, section 3.4] goes through, yielding

Theorem 7.3.

$$\frac{(\gamma_{+}-1)\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]] + \operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]}\widehat{X}_{f,K,\xi}^{S}}{(\gamma_{+}-1)\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]} \supseteq \operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}]]}\widehat{X}_{ac,S\setminus N_{p}}(M).$$

7.5. Half of an Iwasawa main conjecture

From Theorems 7.2 and 7.3, we have the following over $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]][1/p]$.

Theorem 7.4. For S including all places of K dividing pND_K , we have

 $L^{-,S}_{Wan}(f) \cdot \hat{O}^{ur}_L[[\Gamma_K^-]][1/p] \supseteq \operatorname{char}_{\hat{O}^{ur}_L[[\Gamma_K^-]][1/p]}(\hat{X}_{ac,S \setminus N_p}(M)).$

There is a $\mu = 0$ result for $L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)$ due to Hsieh ([13, Theorem B]; see also the Remark on the previous page in that source). Recall the isomorphism $\widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[\Gamma_K^-]] \cong \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[t]]$ sending γ_- to 1 + t.

Theorem 7.5 (Hsieh's $\mu = 0$). As in the Weierstrass preparation theorem, factor the p-adic L-function $L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)$ as $L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f) = p^{\mu}R(t)U(t)$, where $\mu \in \mathbb{Q}$, $U(t) \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[[t]]^{\times}$ and the monic distinguished polynomial $R(t) \in \widehat{O}_L^{ur}[t]$ is chosen so that deg R is minimized. Then $\mu = 0$.

Using that theorem, the reasoning of [15, Theorem 6.1.6] goes through to prove half of an Iwasawa main conjecture:

Theorem 7.6. For any set S of finitely many places of K containing N_p (possibly $S = N_p$), we have

$$L^{-,S}_{Wan}(f) \cdot \widehat{O}^{ur}_L[[\Gamma^-_K]] \supseteq \operatorname{char}_{\widehat{O}^{ur}_L[[\Gamma^-_K]]}(\widehat{X}_{ac,S \setminus N_p}(M)).$$

7.6. Consequences

Let the continuous \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur} -algebra map $P_1: \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}^{-}]] \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ send each element of Γ_{K}^{-} to 1; under the identification $\widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[\Gamma_{K}^{-}]] \cong \widehat{O}_{L}^{ur}[[t]]$ with $\gamma_{-} \mapsto 1 + t$, the map P_1 has the effect of substituting t = 0.

Define

$$C(W) := \#H^0(K_{v_0}, W) \cdot \#H^0(K_{\overline{v}_0}, W) \cdot \prod_{v \in S'} \#H^1_{ur}(K_v, W)$$

where S' is the set of finite places v of K such that $v \nmid p$, V_f is ramified at v, and v is above a rational prime that splits in K.

The argument of [15, section 6.2] finally yields

Theorem 7.7. We have

$$\operatorname{ind}_{p} P_{1}(L_{Wan}^{-,N_{p}}(f)) \leq \operatorname{ind}_{p}(C(W_{f}) \# H_{ac}^{1}(K,W_{f})).$$

8. From cohomology to III

In this section, we adapt an argument of Jetchev, Skinner and Wan [15, section 3.5] to relate $\#H^1_{ac}(K, W_f)$ and $\#\operatorname{III}(K, W_f)$.

8.1. Main formula

Theorem 8.1. Suppose the following hold.

- (i) Congruence: k/2 is not congruent to 0 or 1 modulo p-1.
- (ii) Rank 1: The O_L -module im AJ_K has rank 1.
- (iii) Finiteness of Sha: $\operatorname{III}(K, W_f)[p^{\infty}]$ has finite cardinality as a set.
- (iv) Localization: For each place $v \mid p$ of K, the localization map $H^1_f(K, W_f) \rightarrow H^1_f(K_v, W_f)$ restricts to a map

$$(\operatorname{im} AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) \to (\operatorname{im} AJ_{K_v}) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$$

of which the kernel is torsion.

(v) Local corank 1: For each place $v \mid p$ of K, the O_L -module $H^1_f(K_v, W_f)$ has corank 1.

Define δ_{v_0} to be the cokernel of the localization map

$$\log_{v_0}/\mathrm{tor}: H^1_f(K, T_f) \to H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)/H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)_{\mathrm{tor}}$$

Then

$$#H^1_{ac}(K, W_f) = #III(K, W_f) \cdot (\#\delta_{v_0})^2$$
(12)

and $H^1_f(K, T_f) \cong O_L$.

Proof. We show that for $(T, V, W) = (T_f, V_f, W_f)$, the hypotheses of [15, Proposition 3.2.1] are true, which yields (12); we also show $\operatorname{III}(K, W_f) = \operatorname{III}_f(K, W_f)$ and then prove $H_f^1(K, T_f) \cong O_L$.

As in [15, section 3.5] (noting assumption (i), $V_f^c \cong V_f \cong \operatorname{Hom}_L(V_f, L(\epsilon))$, $p \nmid N$ and that the G_K -representation $T_f/m_L T_f$ is irreducible), to apply [15, Proposition 3.2.1], it is enough to show the following two hypotheses of [15] for $W = W_f$: (corank 1) the O_L -modules $H_f^1(K, W)_{\operatorname{div}}$, $H_f^1(K_{v_0}, W)$, $H_f^1(K_{\overline{v}_0}, W)$ have corank 1, and (sur) the localization maps $H_f^1(K, W)_{\operatorname{div}} \to H_f^1(K_{v_0}, W)$ and $H_f^1(K, W)_{\operatorname{div}} \to H_f^1(K_{\overline{v}_0}, W)$ are surjections.

In the short exact sequence

$$(\operatorname{im} AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) \hookrightarrow H^1_f(K, W_f) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{III}(K, W_f)[p^{\infty}]$$

of O_L -modules, the first term has corank 1 because im AJ_K has rank 1 (assumption (ii)), and the third term has corank 0 (assumption (iii)), so $H_f^1(K, W_f)$ and $H_f^1(K, W_f)_{\text{div}}$ have corank 1. So by assumption (v), (corank 1) holds for $W = W_f$.

Let $v \mid p$ be a place of K. The O_L -module $(\text{im } AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ has corank 1, and it is isomorphic as an O_L -module to L/O_L . By assumption (iv), $(\text{im } AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ is sent by the localization map to $(\text{im } AJ_{K_v}) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ with torsion kernel, so $(\text{im } AJ_{K_v}) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ has corank at least 1. But $(\text{im } AJ_{K_v}) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ is an O_L -submodule of $H_f^1(K_v, W_f)$, which has corank 1 (assumption (v)). So as O_L -modules, $(\text{im } AJ_{K_v}) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) = H_f^1(K_v, W_f) \cong$ L/O_L , and each class in $H_f^1(K_v, W_f)$ is the image of some class in $(\text{im } AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) \subseteq H_f^1(K, W_f)_{\text{div}}$. This implies (sur) for $W = W_f$.

So [15, Proposition 3.2.1] applies, yielding (12).

There are quotient maps

$$H_{f}^{1}(K, W_{f})$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$III(K, W_{f}) = H_{f}^{1}(K, W_{f}) / ((\text{im } AJ_{K}) \otimes_{O_{L}} (L/O_{L}))$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$III_{f}(K, W_{f}) = H_{f}^{1}(K, W_{f}) / H_{f}^{1}(K, W_{f})_{\text{div}}.$$

Since (im AJ_K) $\otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$ is divisible, it is the maximal *p*-divisible subgroup of $H^1_f(K, W_f)$ (because $H^1_f(K, W_f)$ has corank 1), so $\coprod(K, W_f) = \coprod_f(K, W_f)$.

For a uniformizer $\varpi_L \in m_L$ of L, taking the long exact G_K -cohomology of the short exact sequence

$$T_f \stackrel{\varpi_L}{\hookrightarrow} T_f \twoheadrightarrow T_f / \varpi_L T_f$$

implies that the sequence

$$(T_f/\varpi_L T_f)^{G_K} \to H^1(K, T_f) \stackrel{\varpi_L}{\to} H^1(K, T_f)$$

is exact. The left term is 0: it is an O_L -submodule of the G_K -module $T_f/m_L T_f$, and $T_f/m_L T_f$ is irreducible and not 1-dimensional. So $\varpi_L : H^1(K, T_f) \to H^1(K, T_f)$ is injective and $H^1(K, T_f)$ is torsion free. Now $H^1_f(K, T_f)$ is finitely generated as an O_L -module, and

$$\operatorname{rank}_{O_L} H^1_f(K, T_f) = \dim_L H^1_f(K, V_f) = \operatorname{corank}_{O_L} H^1_f(K, W_f) = 1$$
(13)

so $H^1_f(K, T_f) \cong O_L$. (Proof of (13): We have $H^1(G_K, T_f) \otimes_{O_L} L \cong H^1(G_K, V_f)$. There is no divisible part in the cokernel of $H^1(K, V_f) \to H^1(K, W_f)$, since that cokernel is the image of the connecting map $H^1(K, W_f) \to H^2(K, T_f)$, which is the torsion subgroup of $H^2(K, T_f)$, and $H^2(K, T_f)$ is a finitely generated O_L -module.)

8.2. Finding $\#\delta_{v_0}$

We now adapt [15, section 3.5] to find a formula for $\#\delta_{v_0}$.

In this subsection, assume that $H_f^1(K, T_f) \cong O_L$ as O_L -modules and that $H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor} \cong O_L$ is a torsion-free rank-1 O_L -module (both of which are implied by the hypotheses of Proposition 8.1).

Define $C_0 = \operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K} AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}) \in H^1_f(K, T_f)$. In this subsection, assume that the image of C_0 in $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)$ is not torsion; then $\operatorname{loc}_{v_0}/\operatorname{tor} : O_L \cong H^1_f(K, T_f) \to H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\operatorname{tor} \cong O_L$ is injective.

Recall the map \log_{ω} for differential forms $\omega \in \widetilde{V}$ from subsection 5.8.

Theorem 8.2. Choose the differential form $\omega \in \widetilde{\widetilde{V}}$ so that \log_{ω} restricts to an isomorphism $\log_{\omega} : H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor} \xrightarrow{\cong} O_L$ with inverse \exp_{ω} . (Interpret $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor}$ as a subgroup of $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, V_f) \cong (H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor}) \otimes_{O_L} L$.) Then

$$#\delta_{v_0} = \frac{(O_L : O_L \log_\omega(\log_{v_0} C_0)) \cdot (H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f) : \exp_\omega(pO_L))}{p^{[L:\mathbb{Q}_p]} \cdot \#H^0(K_{v_0}, W_f) \cdot (H_f^1(K, T_f) : O_L C_0)}.$$
 (14)

Proof. We argue as in [15], replacing that source's A_f , $\#A_f[\mathfrak{p}^{\infty}](\mathbb{F}_p)$, ω_f , P with $H^1_f(\cdot, T_f)$, $(H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f) : \exp_{\omega}(pO_L))$, ω , C_0 respectively.

The rank-1 O_L -modules

$$H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\operatorname{tor} \supseteq (\operatorname{loc}_{v_0}/\operatorname{tor})H_f^1(K, T_f) \supseteq O_L \operatorname{loc}_{v_0} C_0$$

are of finite index in one another, so we have

$$\#\delta_{v_0} = (H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor} : (\log_{v_0}/\text{tor})H_f^1(K, T_f))$$

$$= (H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor} : O_L \log_{v_0} C_0) / ((\log_{v_0}/\text{tor})H_f^1(K, T_f) : O_L \log_{v_0} C_0)$$

$$= (H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor} : O_L \log_{v_0} C_0) / (H_f^1(K, T_f) : O_L C_0)$$
(15)

because loc_{v_0}/tor is injective.

Since $\log_{\omega} : H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)/\text{tor} \to O_L$ is an isomorphism, the numerator in the last fraction in (15) is

$$(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})/\text{tor} : O_{L}\text{loc}_{v_{0}}C_{0})$$

$$= (\log_{\omega}(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})/\text{tor}) : \log_{\omega}(O_{L}\text{loc}_{v_{0}}C_{0}))$$

$$= (O_{L} : O_{L}\log_{\omega}(\text{loc}_{v_{0}}C_{0})) / (O_{L} : \log_{\omega}(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})/\text{tor})).$$
(16)

Finally, the denominator in the last fraction in (16) is

$$(O_{L} : \log_{\omega}(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})/\operatorname{tor})) = (O_{L} : pO_{L}) / (\log_{\omega}(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})/\operatorname{tor}) : pO_{L})) = (O_{L} : pO_{L}) / (H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})/\operatorname{tor} : \exp_{\omega}(pO_{L}))) = (O_{L} : pO_{L}) \cdot \#H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f})_{\operatorname{tor}} / (H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f}) : \exp_{\omega}(pO_{L}))) = (O_{L} : pO_{L}) \cdot \#H^{0}(K_{v_{0}}, W_{f}) / (H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}}, T_{f}) : \exp_{\omega}(pO_{L})).$$
(17)

For the last equation, note that $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)_{tor} = H^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)_{tor}$ which is isomorphic to the image of the connecting map $H^0(K_{v_0}, W_f) \to H^1(K_{v_0}, T_f)$; but this image is isomorphic to $H^0(K_{v_0}, W_f)$ since $V_f^{G_{K_{v_0}}} = 0$.

Noting that $(O_L : pO_L) = p^{[L:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$ (because p does not ramify in L/\mathbb{Q}_p) and combining (15), (16) and (17) yields (14).

9. From III to Heegner cycles: an Euler system result

9.1. Masoero's theorem

In this subsection, we link the order of III to subsection 5.2's Heegner cycles Δ_{Ma19} , Z_{Ma19} by describing and slightly adapting a result of Masoero [21], which that paper proved by adapting arguments of Kolyvagin [18, 19] (as reorganized by McCallum [22]) about Euler systems and Shafarevich-Tate groups.

Theorem 9.1. ([21, Theorem 7.3 and next sentence, Corollary 7.11]; see also [23, Theorem 13.1]). In addition to subsection 2.2's hypotheses, assume that:

- (i) The cohomology class $C_0 = \operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K} AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}) \in H^1(K, T_f)$ is not torsion.
- (ii) If $g \in GL_2(O_{\mathbb{Q}(f)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p)$ and det g is a (k-1)th power in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} , then g is in the image of the representation $\rho_{f,p} : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to GL_2(O_{\mathbb{Q}(f)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_p)$ corresponding to T_p .

Then

$$(\text{im } AJ_K) \otimes \mathbb{Q} = L \cdot C_0 \subseteq H^1_f(K, V_f),$$

the group $\amalg(K, W_f)$ has finite cardinality, and

$$\operatorname{ind}_{p} \# \operatorname{III}(K, W_{f}) \leq 2 \operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}).$$

- Remarks 9.2. (a) Although Masoero's paper assumes that every prime dividing N splits in K, the paper's argument goes through under our more general Heegner hypothesis. The only place where Masoero uses the splitting assumption is to deduce the existence of an ideal \mathfrak{C} of O_K for which $\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z} \cong O_K/\mathfrak{C}$ [21, section 4.1]; such a \mathfrak{C} still exists if each prime over N may split or ramify in K with the square of the prime not dividing N in the latter case.
 - (b) Condition (ii) excludes only finitely many p for given f and K; see [21, section 4.2]. Masoero assumes $p \nmid h_K$ to define Kolyvagin classes (see the argument between Remark 4.2 and Proposition 4.3 in [21]). To adapt Masoero's reasoning to the case $p \mid h_K$, one might need to use universal Euler system arguments along the lines of Rubin ([30, sections 4.2-4.4]; see in particular [30, Remark 4.4.3]).

10. Comparing Heegner cycles: Abel-Jacobi maps

Recall subsection 5.1's groups G(t, r) and projections π_B , $\pi_{B,1}$, as well as subsection 5.2's cycles and varieties.

10.1. The section's main result

In this section, we prove the following result.

Theorem 10.1. In addition to subsection 2.2's hypotheses, assume that:

(i) We have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}) = \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}).$$
 (18)

- (ii) When the $h_K \cdot \phi(N)$ elements of $\operatorname{Gal}(K_1/K) \times (\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N))$ act on the point of $X_1(N)$ associated to E_{x_1} , the corresponding $h_K \cdot \phi(N)$ images of that point are distinct.
- (iii) The map (7) with $\eta = \omega_f \wedge \omega_A^{k/2-1} \eta_A^{k/2-1}$, $A = E_{x_1}$ and F = L has image in O_L .

Then

$$\operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}) \leq \operatorname{ind}_{p}AJ_{L}^{1, E_{x_{1}}}(Z_{BeDaPr13})\left(\omega_{f} \wedge \omega_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\eta_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\right)$$
(19)

Remarks 10.2. We always have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}) = \operatorname{ind}_p(\operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K}AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_K)$$
 (20)

because

$$AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}) = \operatorname{res}_{K_1/K}(\operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K}AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}))$$

and, noting that $p \nmid h_K$,

$$cor_{K_1/K} AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}) = cor_{K_1/K} res_{K_1/K} (cor_{K_1/K} AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19})) = h_K cor_{K_1/K} AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}).$$

(To see why these imply (20), use versions of the next subsection's lemmas with pushforwards and pullbacks replaced by the maps $\operatorname{res}_{K_1/K}$, $\operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K}$.) Equation (18) says the $\operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K}$ on (20)'s right hand side can be removed without changing the *p*-indices, so (18) is stronger than (20).

10.2. Correspondences, Galois actions and p-indices

The following two lemmas are key tools in our argument.

Lemma 10.3. Let varieties U_1 , U_2 be defined over K_1 , with associated Abel-Jacobi maps $AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}$, $AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}$. Let Δ_1 , Δ_2 be cycles defined over K_1 in U_1 , U_2 respectively. Let P be a correspondence from U_1 to U_2 , with induced pushforward and pullback maps P_* , P^* between the Chow groups of U_1 and U_2 . Write

$$M_1 := \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^{U_1})$$

if this number is well defined, and write

$$M_2 := \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^{U_2})$$

if this number is well defined.

- (a) Assume $AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2)$ is not torsion and $P_*\Delta_1 = \alpha \Delta_2$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. Then $AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1)$ is not torsion, both of M_1 , M_2 are well defined, and $M_1 \leq M_2$
- (b) Assume $AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1)$ is not torsion and $\alpha\Delta_1 = P^*\Delta_2$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. Then $AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2)$ is not torsion, both of M_1 , M_2 are well defined, and $M_1 \ge M_2$.

Proof. (a) Assume for a contradiction that $AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1)$ is torsion. Then so is

$$P_*AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1) = AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(P_*\Delta_1) = \alpha AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2),$$

so $AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2)$ is also torsion, contrary to assumption. So $AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1)$ is not tor-

Therefore, there are non-torsion classes $C_1 \in \text{im } AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}$ and $C_2 \in \text{im } AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}$ for which $AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1) = p^{M_1}C_1$ and $AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2) = p^{M_2}C_2$, so

M_2	=	$\operatorname{ind}_p(\alpha AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}(\Delta_2), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^{U_2})$	(since $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$)
	=	$\operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}^{U_{2}}(P_{*}\Delta_{1}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}^{U_{2}})$	(by assumption)
	=	$\operatorname{ind}_p(P_*AJ_{K_1}^{U_1}(\Delta_1), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^{U_2})$	(Abel-Jacobi maps commute
			with correspondences)
	=	$\operatorname{ind}_p(p^{M_1}P_*(C_1), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^{U_2})$	
	=	$M_1 + \operatorname{ind}_p(P_*(C_1), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^{U_2}) \ge M_1.$	

(b) In the argument for part (a), replace P_* with P^* and swap M_1 with M_2 , U_1 with U_2 , Δ_1 with Δ_2 and C_1 with C_2 . We obtain $M_1 \ge M_2$.

Lemma 10.4. Let U be a variety defined over K, with associated Abel-Jacobi map $AJ_{K_1}^U$. Let Δ be a cycle defined over K_1 in U. Suppose that

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ^U_{K_1}(\Delta), \operatorname{im} AJ^U_{K_1})$$

is well defined. Then for any $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(K_1/K)$, we have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}^U(\Delta), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^U) = \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}^U(\sigma\Delta), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^U).$$

Proof. If a non-torsion class $C_1 \in \text{im } AJ_{K_1}^U$ satisfies $AJ_{K_1}^U(\Delta) = p^{M_1}C_1$ for some $M_1 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, then applying $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(K_1/K)$ and noting that Abel-Jacobi maps are Galois equivariant yields $AJ_{K_1}^U(\sigma\Delta) = p^{M_1}(\sigma C_1)$, and σC_1 is non-torsion since C_1 is non-torsion.

Conversely, if a non-torsion class $C_2 \in \text{im } AJ^U_{K_1}$ satisfies $AJ^U_{K_1}(\sigma\Delta) = p^{M_2}C_2$ for some $M_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, then applying σ^{-1} similarly yields $AJ^U_{K_1}(\Delta) = p^{M_2}(\sigma^{-1}C_2)$, and $\sigma^{-1}C_2$ is non-torsion.

The desired result follows.

For the rest of this section, Theorem 10.1's hypotheses are assumed.

10.3. From Masoero to Castella

First, in this subsection, we link the *p*-index of Masoero's Heegner cycle Δ_{Ma19} to the *p*-index of Castella's Heegner cycle Δ_{Ca13} .

The "forget the second $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})$ -basis vector" map $\mathcal{E}(\Gamma(N)) \to \mathcal{E}(\Gamma_1(N))$ gives maps $P_r : \tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma(N)) \to \tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N))$. Passing to Chow groups, we obtain pushforward maps $P_{r,*}$ and pullback maps P_r^* .

To help perform the calculations below, we define a \mathbb{Q} -linear map³

$$P_{r,*}: \mathbb{Q}[G(2,r) \times (\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N))] \to \mathbb{Q}[G(1,r) \times (\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N))]$$

so that the element

$$(((z_{11}, z_{12}, \varepsilon_1), \dots, (z_{r1}, z_{r2}, \varepsilon_r)), s) \in ((\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^2 \rtimes \{\pm 1\})^r \rtimes S_r = G(2, r)$$

(where each z_{ij} is in $\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z}$, each ε_i is in $\{\pm 1\}$ and $s \in S_r$) is sent by $P_{r,*}$ to

$$(((z_{11},\varepsilon_1),\ldots,(z_{r1},\varepsilon_r)),s) \in ((\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z}) \rtimes \{\pm 1\})^r \rtimes S_r = G(1,r),$$

and an element $b \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)$ is sent by $P_{r,*}$ to the image of b under the quotient map $\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N) \to \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N)$. Then, for any $\sigma \in \mathbb{Q}[G(2,r) \times (\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N))]$, any cycle Z of $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma(N))$ and any cycle Z_1 of $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}^r(\Gamma_1(N))$, we have

$$P_{r,*}(\sigma \cdot Z) = P_{r,*}(\sigma) \cdot P_{r,*}(Z) \tag{21}$$

$$P_r^*(P_{r,*}(\sigma) \cdot Z_1) = \sigma \cdot P_r^*(Z_1).$$
(22)

Equations (21), (22) are easily shown by first considering the cases $\sigma \in G(2, r)$ and $\sigma \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)$, then extending by Q-linearity.

The maps $P_{k-2,*}$, P_{k-2}^* act on the cycles Δ_{Ma19} , Δ_{Ca13} as follows.

Proposition 10.5. We have

$$P_{k-2,*}(\Delta_{Ma19}) = \Delta_{Ca13} \tag{23}$$

$$P_{k-2}^*(\Delta_{Ca13}) = N \cdot \Delta_{Ma19}.$$
(24)

Proof. For the pushforward, we have

$$P_{k-2,*}(i_x)_*((\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K}))^{k/2-1}) = (i_{x_1})_*((\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K}))^{k/2-1}),$$

so by (21), for each $\sigma \in G(2, k-2)$ and each $b \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)$, we have

$$P_{k-2,*}(b\sigma(i_x)_*((\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K}))^{k/2-1}))$$

= $P_{k-2,*}(b)P_{k-2,*}(\sigma)(i_{x_1})_*((\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K}))^{k/2-1}).$ (25)

³Our reason for using the same notation $P_{r,*}$ for different maps is explained by (21) and (22).

Multiplying (25) by

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)|} \cdot \frac{c_2(\sigma)}{|G(2,k-2)|}$$

(recall that the expression $c_2(\sigma)$ was defined in subsection 5.1) and then summing over all $\sigma \in G(2, k-2)$ and all $b \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma(N)$ yields (23).

For the pullback, we have

$$P_{k-2}^{*}(i_{x_{1}})_{*}((\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_{K}}))^{k/2-1}) = \sum_{\widetilde{x}}(i_{\widetilde{x}})_{*}((\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_{K}}))^{k/2-1})$$

where \tilde{x} runs over the N points in the inverse image of x_1 under the map $X(N) \to X_1(N)$. Arguing as before, using (22) instead of (21), yields (24). \Box

The Abel-Jacobi map commutes with correspondences, so applying the Abel-Jacobi map to (23) and (24) yields

$$P_{k-2,*}AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}) = AJ_{K_1}^1(\Delta_{Ca13})$$
(26)

$$P_{k-2}^* A J_{K_1}^1(\Delta_{Ca13}) = N \cdot A J_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}).$$
(27)

Since $p \nmid N$ and $AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19})$ is not torsion, Lemma 10.3 yields the following.

Proposition 10.6. We have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}) = \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}^1(\Delta_{Ca13}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}^1).$$
 (28)

10.4. Galois action on Castella's Heegner cycle

By the theory of complex multiplication, there is a bijection between elements $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(K_1/K)$ and ideal classes $[\mathfrak{a}]$ of O_K so that the elliptic curve σE_{x_1} corresponds to the same point of $X_1(N)$ as $E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]$. It is easily checked that $\sigma \Delta_{Ca13} = \Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}}$ for σ thus corresponding to $[\mathfrak{a}]$. Applying Lemma 10.4, we obtain:

Proposition 10.7. For a nonzero ideal \mathfrak{a} of O_K , we have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ^1_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ca13}), \operatorname{im} AJ^1_{K_1}) = \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ^1_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}}), \operatorname{im} AJ^1_{K_1}).$$

10.5. From Castella to BDP

As in [2, proof of Lemma 3.4], define Π_{k-2} to be the image of

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times E_{x_1}^{k/2-1} & \hookrightarrow & \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times (\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times E_{x_1}^{k-2}) \\ & (w,a) & \mapsto & (w,(w,(a,\sqrt{D_K}\cdot a))) \end{aligned}$$

and view Π_{k-2} as a correspondence from $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times E_{x_1}^{k-2}$ to $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$.

Proposition 10.8. We have

$$\Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}} = \pi_{B,1} \Pi_{k-2} \Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})}.$$
(29)

Proof. For $\sigma_1 = ((z_i, \varepsilon_{1i})_{i=1}^{k-2}, s_1) \in G(1, k-2)$ and $\sigma_0 = ((\varepsilon_{0i})_{i=1}^{k-2}, s_0) \in G(0, k-2)$, we have

$$\Pi_{k-2}\sigma_1\sigma_0 \operatorname{Graph}(\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a}))^{k-2} = \sigma \operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}$$
(30)

where

$$\sigma = ((z_i, \varepsilon_{1i}\varepsilon_{0,s_0 \circ s_1^{-1}(i)})_{i=1}^{k-2}, s_1 \circ s_0^{-1}) \in G(1, k-2).$$

Multiplying (30) by

$$\frac{c_1(\sigma_1)}{|G(1,k-2)|} \cdot \frac{c_0(\sigma_0)}{|G(0,k-2)|}$$

and then summing over all $(\sigma_1, \sigma_0) \in G(1, k-2) \times G(0, k-2)$, we obtain

$$\Pi_{k-2}\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})} = \pi_{1,k-2}(\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}^{k/2-1})$$
(31)

and applying $\pi_{B,1}$ yields (29).

Define $Q_{\mathfrak{a}}$ to be the correspondence from $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$ to itself that sends a cycle to its intersection with the fiber at $E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]$ in $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$.

Proposition 10.9. We have

$$\Pi_{k-2}\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})} = \phi(N) \cdot Q_{\mathfrak{a}}\Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}}.$$
(32)

Proof. By definition, Δ_{Ca13} is

$$\sum_{b \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N)} \frac{1}{\phi(N)} \sum_{\sigma \in G(1,k-2)} \frac{c_1(\sigma)}{|G(1,k-2)|} b\sigma(\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}).$$
(33)

Because of Theorem 10.1's assumption (ii), applying $Q_{\mathfrak{a}}$ to Δ_{Ca13} eliminates the terms in (33) involving a nontrivial $b \in \Gamma_0(N)/\Gamma_1(N)$ and preserves the terms in (33) with b = 1. Therefore $\phi(N) \cdot Q_{\mathfrak{a}} \Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}}$ is equal to

$$\sum_{\sigma \in G(1,k-2)} \frac{c_1(\sigma)}{|G(1,k-2)|} \sigma(\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}) = \pi_{1,k-2}(\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]})$$

which is $\prod_{k=2} \Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})}$ by (31), so (32) is proved.

Let $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(K_1/K)$ correspond to the ideal class $[\mathfrak{a}]$ as before. Define $R_{\mathfrak{a}}$ to be the correspondence from $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$ to $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times E_{x_1}^{k-2}$ given by the variety in

$$(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N)) \times E_{x_1}^{k-2}) \times \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$$

whose points are precisely the points of the form

$$(((w_1 \mod E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}], \dots, w_{k-2} \mod E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}])_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}, (w_1, \dots, w_{k-2})), (w_1 \mod E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}], \dots, w_{k/2-1} \mod E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}], x_1, \dots, x_{k/2-1})_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]})$$

where the w_i are points in E_{x_1} and the x_i are points in $E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]$. The subvariety $\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}[\mathfrak{a}]}^{k/2-1}$ of $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{k-2}(\Gamma_1(N))$ is interpreted as the variety of points of the form

$$(w_1, \ldots, w_{k/2-1}, \sqrt{D_K} w_1, \ldots, \sqrt{D_K} w_{k/2-1}).$$

Proposition 10.10. We have

$$\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})} = \pi_{1,k-2}\pi_{0,k-2}R_{\mathfrak{a},*}\Pi_{k-2}\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})}.$$
(34)

Proof. By (31), we have

$$\Pi_{k-2}\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})} = \pi_{1,k-2}(\operatorname{Graph}(\sqrt{D_K})^{k/2-1}_{E_{x_1}/E_{x_1}}[\mathfrak{a}])$$

and applying $\pi_{1,k-2}\pi_{0,k-2}R_{\mathfrak{a},*}$ yields (34).

Combining Lemma 10.3 with Propositions 10.8, 10.9, 10.10 in that order yields

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_{1}},\mathfrak{a})}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}) &\leq \operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}^{1}(\Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}^{1}) \\ &\leq \operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}^{1}(\Pi_{k-2}\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_{1}},\mathfrak{a})}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}^{1}) \\ &\leq \operatorname{ind}_{p}(AJ_{K_{1}}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_{1}},\mathfrak{a})}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_{1}}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}). \end{split}$$

which means that all of the p-indices are equal. The additional fact that

$$\inf_{p} (AJ_{K_{1}}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_{1}},\mathfrak{a})}), \inf AJ_{K_{1}}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}) \leq \inf_{p} (AJ_{L}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_{1}},\mathfrak{a})}), \inf AJ_{L}^{1,E_{x_{1}}})$$
 now implies:

Proposition 10.11. We have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ^1_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ca13,\mathfrak{a}}), \operatorname{im} AJ^1_{K_1}) \leq \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ^{1,E_{x_1}}_L(\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1},\mathfrak{a})}), \operatorname{im} AJ^{1,E_{x_1}}_L).$$

10.6. Conclusion

By Theorem 10.1's assumption (i) (that is, (18)) and Propositions 10.6, 10.7 and 10.11, we have

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}) \le \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_L^{1, E_{x_1}}(\Delta_{\varphi(E_{x_1}, \mathfrak{a})}), \operatorname{im} AJ_L^{1, E_{x_1}})$$

for each nonzero ideal \mathfrak{a} of O_K . Since $Z_{BeDaPr13}$ is defined as a \mathbb{Z}_p -linear combination of cycles (note that (k/2 - 1)! and $N(\mathfrak{a})$ are coprime to p) whose Abel-Jacobi images' p-indices are at least the p-index of $AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19})$, it follows that

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}) \le \operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_L^{1, E_{x_1}}(Z_{BeDaPr13}), \operatorname{im} AJ_L^{1, E_{x_1}}).$$
 (35)

Using Theorem 10.1's assumption (iii), we have

(RHS of (35))
$$\leq \operatorname{ind}_{p} A J_{L}^{1, E_{x_{1}}}(Z_{BeDaPr13}) \left(\omega_{f} \wedge \omega_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1} \eta_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\right).$$
 (36)

Equations (35) and (36) imply (19), so Theorem 10.1 is proved.

11. Final argument

We now prove this paper's main theorem:

Theorem 11.1. Suppose all the assumptions of subsection 2.2 hold, together with the following technical hypotheses.

(i) For each place $v \mid p$ of K, the O_L -module $H^1_f(K_v, W_f)$ has corank 1, and the localization map $H^1_f(K, W_f) \to H^1_f(K_v, W_f)$ restricts to a map

 $(\text{im } AJ_K) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L) \to (\text{im } AJ_{K_v}) \otimes_{O_L} (L/O_L)$

of which the kernel is torsion.

- (ii) The cohomology class $C_0 = \operatorname{cor}_{K_1/K} AJ_{K_1}(\Delta_{Ma19}) \in H^1_f(K, T_f)$ has a non-torsion image in $H^1_f(K_{v_0}, T_f)$ under localization.
- (iii) Theorem 9.1's assumption (ii) holds.
- (iv) Theorem 10.1's assumptions (i), (ii) and (iii) hold.
- (v) The prime p is coprime to the product of the two fractions

$$\frac{\#H^0(K_{\overline{v}_0}, W_f)\Pi_{v\in S'}(\#H^1_{ur}(K_v, W_f))}{\#H^0(K_{v_0}, W_f)}$$

and

$$\frac{(O_L: O_L \log_\omega(\log_{v_0} C_0))^2 (H_f^1(K_{v_0}, T_f) : \exp_\omega(pO_L))^2}{p^{2[L:\mathbb{Q}_p]-k} (H_f^1(K, T_f) : O_L C_0)^2}$$

where S' is as described just before Theorem 7.7, and the differential form ω and its associated maps \log_{ω} , \exp_{ω} are described in Theorem 8.2 and subsection 5.8.

 $Then \ we \ have$

....

$$2\mathrm{ind}_{p}AJ_{L}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(Z_{BeDaPr13})\left(\omega_{f}\wedge\omega_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\eta_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\right)=\mathrm{ind}_{p}\#\mathrm{III}(K,W_{f}).$$

Proof. By Bertolini, Darmon and Prasanna's [1, Theorem 5.13] (with that source's $\chi = N^{k/2}$, j = k/2 - 1, r = k - 2, c = 1, $\varepsilon_f = 1$), noting the correspondence between section 7's P_1 and subsubsection 6.3.4's P_{ac} corresponding to $\chi = N^{k/2}$,

$$\begin{split} P_1(L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)) &= (1-p^{-k/2}a(p,f)+p^{-1})^2 \cdot \\ &\left(\frac{1}{(k/2-1)!}\sum_{[\mathfrak{a}]} \frac{1}{\mathbf{N}^{k/2-1}(\mathfrak{a})} AJ_L^{1,E_{x_1}}(\Delta_{\varphi_\mathfrak{a}}) \left(\omega_f \wedge \omega_{E_{x_1}}^{k/2-1} \eta_{E_{x_1}}^{k/2-1}\right)\right)^2. \end{split}$$

Since a(p, f) is a *p*-adic unit and $k/2 \ge 2$, this implies

$$2\mathrm{ind}_p A J_L^{1,E_{x_1}}(Z_{BeDaPr13}) \left(\omega_f \wedge \omega_{E_{x_1}}^{k/2-1} \eta_{E_{x_1}}^{k/2-1} \right) = k + \mathrm{ind}_p P_1(L_{BDP}^{-,N_p}(f)).$$
(37)

By Theorem 6.2,

$$\operatorname{ind}_{p} P_{1}(L_{BDP}^{-,N_{p}}(f)) \leq \operatorname{ind}_{p} P_{1}(L_{Wan}^{-,N_{p}}(f)).$$
 (38)

By Theorem 7.7,

$$\operatorname{ind}_{p} P_{1}(L_{Wan}^{-,N_{p}}(f)) \leq \operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#H^{0}(K_{v_{0}},W_{f})) + \operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#H^{0}(K_{\overline{v}_{0}},W_{f})) + \operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#H^{1}_{ac}(K,W_{f})) + \sum_{v \in S'} \operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#H^{1}_{ur}(K_{v},W_{f})).$$
(39)

By Theorem 9.1, the O_L -module im AJ_K has rank 1 and the group $III(K, W_f)$ has finite cardinality, so all the hypotheses of Theorems 8.1 and 8.2 hold. By those theorems,

$$\operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#H_{ac}^{1}(K,W_{f})) = \operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#\operatorname{III}(K,W_{f})) - 2[L:\mathbb{Q}_{p}] + 2\operatorname{ind}_{p}(O_{L}:O_{L}\log_{\omega}(\operatorname{loc}_{v_{0}}C_{0})) + 2\operatorname{ind}_{p}(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}},T_{f}):\exp_{\omega}(pO_{L})) - 2\operatorname{ind}_{p}(\#H^{0}(K_{v_{0}},W_{f})) - 2\operatorname{ind}_{p}(H_{f}^{1}(K,T_{f}):O_{L}C_{0}).$$

$$(40)$$

Again by Theorem 9.1,

$$\operatorname{ind}_p(\#\operatorname{III}(K, W_f)) \le 2\operatorname{ind}_p(AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}), \operatorname{im} AJ_{K_1}).$$
 (41)

By Theorem 10.1,

$$2ind_p(AJ_{K_1}(Z_{Ma19}), im \ AJ_{K_1}) \le 2ind_pAJ_L^{1, E_{x_1}}(Z_{BeDaPr13}) \left(\omega_f \wedge \omega_{E_{x_1}}^{k/2-1} \eta_{E_{x_1}}^{k/2-1}\right)$$
(42)

Each of (37) to (42) is either an equation or an inequality in the \leq direction. Combining those six statements in that order yields

$$2ind_{p}AJ_{L}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(Z_{BeDaPr13})\left(\omega_{f}\wedge\omega_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\eta_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\right)$$

$$\leq 2ind_{p}AJ_{L}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(Z_{BeDaPr13})\left(\omega_{f}\wedge\omega_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\eta_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\right) - ind_{p}(\#H^{0}(K_{v_{0}},W_{f}))$$

$$+ ind_{p}(\#H^{0}(K_{\overline{v}_{0}},W_{f})) + \sum_{v\in S'}ind_{p}(\#H_{ur}^{1}(K_{v},W_{f}))$$

$$+ 2ind_{p}(O_{L}:O_{L}\log_{\omega}(\log_{v_{0}}C_{0})) + 2ind_{p}(H_{f}^{1}(K_{v_{0}},T_{f}):\exp_{\omega}(pO_{L}))$$

$$+ k - 2[L:\mathbb{Q}_{p}] - 2ind_{p}(H_{f}^{1}(K,T_{f}):O_{L}C_{0}). \qquad (43)$$

Theorem 11.1's assumption (v) forces equality in (43), hence equality in each of (37) to (42). In particular, equality occurs in (41) and (42), so

$$2\mathrm{ind}_{p}AJ_{L}^{1,E_{x_{1}}}(Z_{BeDaPr13})\left(\omega_{f}\wedge\omega_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\eta_{E_{x_{1}}}^{k/2-1}\right)=\mathrm{ind}_{p}\#\mathrm{III}(K,W_{f}).$$

Acknowledgements

This work is an edited version of my Princeton University PhD thesis (degree conferred June 2020). The current paper removes the previous minor assumption that C_{Wan} is a *p*-adic unit. The original thesis, "A Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer formula for high-weight modular forms", is available from the digital repository DataSpace at http://arks.princeton.edu/ark:/88435/dsp01d504rp250>.

Many thanks to the anonymous referee(s) for their extremely helpful comments.

Many thanks to my thesis advisor Prof. Christopher Skinner for all their encouragement and support, including suggesting the thesis topic, offering extremely helpful comments about my thesis drafts and serving as a reader and thesis committee member.

Many thanks to thesis committee members Prof. Peter Sarnak and Prof. Nicholas Katz. Many thanks to Prof. Sarnak for their very kind help as my first-year advisor.

Many thanks to external reader Prof. Francesc Castella for their extremely helpful comments, in particular for their last-minute corrections to the thesis.

Many thanks to everyone at Princeton for all the wonderful experiences we have shared over the past few years.

Many thanks to Princeton University for having me as a PhD student.

Many thanks to Princeton University, the Institute of International Education and the Fulbright Foreign Student Program for their generous financial and administrative support.

The financial assistance of the National Research Foundation (NRF) towards this research is hereby acknowledged. Opinions expressed and conclusions arrived at, are those of the author and are not necessarily to be attributed to the NRF. Many thanks to the NRF for their generous support.

Many thanks to my academic mentor and postdoctoral supervisor Prof. James Raftery, as well as Prof. Roumen Anguelov, Prof. Jan Harm van der Walt, Prof. Anton Ströh and everyone else at the University of Pretoria, for their continuing generous support. I was supported by the University of Pretoria's UP Post-Doctoral Fellowship Programme [grant number A0X 816] during the final completion and editing of this work.

References

- M. Bertolini, H. Darmon, and K. Prasanna. Generalized Heegner cycles and p-adic Rankin L-series. *Duke Math. J.*, 162(6):1033–1148, 2013. Appendix by B. Conrad.
- [2] F. Castella. Heegner cycles and higher weight specializations of big Heegner points. Math. Ann., 356(4):1247–1282, 2013.
- [3] J. Cogdell, H. Kim, and M. Murty. Lectures on automorphic L-functions. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004.

- [4] F. Diamond and J. Im. Modular forms and modular curves. In V. Murty, editor, Seminar on Fermat's last theorem (seminar proceedings, Toronto, Canada, 1993-1994), volume 17 of CMS conference proceedings, pages 39– 133, Providence, RI, 1995. American Mathematical Society (for the Canadian Mathematical Society).
- [5] F. Diamond and J. Shurman. A first course in modular forms, volume 228 of Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer Science+Business Media, New York, NY, 2010.
- [6] D. Eisenbud. Commutative algebra: with a view toward algebraic geometry, volume 150 of Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer-Verlag New York, New York, NY, 1995.
- [7] G. Faltings. Crystalline cohomology and p-adic galois-representations. In J. i. Igusa, editor, Algebraic analysis, geometry, and number theory: proceedings of the JAMI inaugural conference (conference proceedings, Baltimore, 1988), pages 25–80, Baltimore, MD, 1989. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- [8] R. Hartshorne. Algebraic geometry, volume 52 of Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer Science+Business Media, New York, NY, 1977.
- [9] H. Hida. Congruences of cusp forms and special values of their zeta functions. *Invent. Math.*, 63(2):225-261, 1981.
- [10] H. Hida. On p-adic Hecke algebras for GL₂ over totally real fields. Ann. Math., 128(2):295–384, 1988.
- [11] H. Hida. On p-adic L-functions of GL(2) x GL(2) over totally real fields. Ann. de l'Inst. Fourier, 41(2):311–391, 1991.
- [12] H. Hida and J. Tilouine. Anti-cyclotomic Katz p-adic L-functions and congruence modules. Ann. Sci. de l'Éc. Norm. Supér., 26(2):189–259, 1993.
- [13] H. Hsieh. Special values of anticyclotomic Rankin-Selberg L-functions. Doc. Math., 19:709–767, 2014.
- [14] H. Jacquet and R. Langlands. Automorphic forms on GL(2), volume 114 of Lecture notes in mathematics. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin and Heidelberg, 1970.
- [15] D. Jetchev, C. Skinner, and X. Wan. The Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer formula for elliptic curves of analytic rank one. *Camb. J. Math.*, 5(3): 369–434, 2017.
- [16] J. King. Log complexes of currents and functorial properties of the Abel-Jacobi map. Duke Math. J., 50(1):1–53, 1983.
- [17] G. Köhler. *Eta products and theta series identities*. Springer monographs in mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin and Heidelberg, 2011.

- [18] V. Kolyvagin. Euler systems. In P. Cartier et al., editor, *The Grothendieck Festschrift volume II*, pages 435–483. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990.
- [19] V. Kolyvagin. On the structure of Shafarevich-Tate groups. In S. Bloch, I. Dolgachev, and W. Fulton, editors, *Algebraic geometry (US-USSR symposium proceedings, Chicago, 1989)*, volume 1479 of *Lecture notes in mathematics*, pages 94–121, Berlin and Heidelberg, 1991. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.
- [20] Y. Manin and A. Panchishkin. Number theory I: Introduction to modern number theory: Fundamental problems, ideas and theories, volume 49 of Encyclopaedia of mathematical sciences. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin and Heidelberg, 2nd corrected printing of 2nd edition, 2007.
- [21] D. Masoero. On the structure of Selmer and Shafarevich-Tate groups of even weight modular forms. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.*, 371(12):8381–8404, 2019.
- [22] W. McCallum. Kolyvagin's work on Shafarevich-Tate groups. In J. Coates and M. Taylor, editors, *L-functions and arithmetic (symposium proceedings, Durham, 1989)*, volume 153 of London Mathematical Society lecture note *series*, pages 295–316, Cambridge, UK, 1991. Cambridge University Press.
- [23] J. Nekovář. Kolyvagin's method for Chow groups of Kuga-Sato varieties. Invent. Math., 107:99–125, 1992.
- [24] J. Nekovář. On p-adic height pairings. In S. David, editor, Séminaire de théorie des nombres, Paris, 1990-1991, volume 108 of Progress in mathematics, pages 127–202, Boston, MA, 1993. Birkhäuser Boston.
- [25] J. Nekovář. On the p-adic height of Heegner cycles. Math. Ann., 302(4): 609–686, 1995.
- [26] J. Nekovář. p-adic Abel-Jacobi maps and p-adic heights. In B. Gordon et al., editor, The arithmetic and geometry of algebraic cycles: Proceedings of the CRM Summer School, June 7-19, 1998, Banff, Alberta, Canada, volume 24 of CRM (Centre de Recherches Mathématiques, Université de Montréal) proceedings and lecture notes, pages 367–379, Providence, RI, 2000. American Mathematical Society.
- [27] J. Nekovář and A. Plater. On the parity of ranks of Selmer groups. Asian J. Math., 4(2):437–498, 2000.
- [28] J. Neukirch. Algebraic number theory, volume 322 of Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin and Heidelberg, 1999.

- [29] J. Neukirch, A. Schmidt, and K. Wingberg. Cohomology of number fields, volume 323 of Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin and Heidelberg, 2nd corrected printing of 2nd edition, 2013.
- [30] K. Rubin. Euler systems: Hermann Weyl lectures: The Institute for Advanced Study, volume 147 of Annals of mathematics studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2000.
- [31] A. Scholl. Motives for modular forms. Invent. Math., 100:419–430, 1990.
- [32] A. Scholl. Vanishing cycles and non-classical parabolic cohomology. Invent. Math., 124:503–524, 1996.
- [33] J. Silverman. The arithmetic of elliptic curves, volume 106 of Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer Science+Business Media, Dordrecht, Heidelberg, London and New York, 2nd edition, 2010.
- [34] N. Simard. Petersson inner product of theta series. PhD thesis, McGill University, 2017. Supervisor H. Darmon.
- [35] C. Skinner and E. Urban. The Iwasawa main conjectures for GL₂. Invent. Math., 195:1–277, 2014.
- [36] J. Tate. Relations between K₂ and Galois cohomology. Invent. Math., 36: 257–274, 1976.
- [37] X. Wan. Iwasawa main conjecture for Rankin-Selberg p-adic Lfunctions. Algebra Number Theory, 14(2):383–483, 2020. Preprint at arXiv:1408.4044v5.
- [38] L. Washington. Galois cohomology. In G. Cornell, J. Silverman, and G. Stevens, editors, *Modular forms and Fermat's last theorem (conference proceedings, Boston, 1995)*, pages 101–120, New York, NY, 1997. Springer-Verlag New York.